
E

IL

V

N

V
INDUSTRY 
SCOPE 
PLATFORM

O

G
ANNUAL 
 REPORT 
2011Real Estate Services Inc.



Profile
Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc. is a leading provider of  
services to residential real estate brokers and their REALTORS®.  
The Company generates cash flow from franchise royalties and  
service fees derived from a national network of real estate brokers 
and agents in Canada operating under the Royal LePage, Via Capitale  
Real Estate Network and Johnston & Daniel brand names. 

At December 31, 2011, the Company network consisted of  
15,061 REALTORS®. The Company network has an approximate  
22% share of the Canadian residential resale real estate market 
based on transactional dollar volume. The Company generates both 
fixed and variable fee components. Variable fees are primarily driven 
by the total transactional dollar volume from the sales commissions  
of REALTORS®, while fixed fees are based on the number of agents 
and sales representatives in the network. Approximately 68% of the 
Company’s revenue is based on fees that are fixed in nature; this  
provides revenue stability and helps insulate the Company’s cash 
flows from market fluctuations.

The Company is listed on the TSX and trades under the  
symbol “BRE”. For further information about us, please visit  
www.brookfieldresinc.com.
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 Our priority is to continue to provide an attractive investment return to 
shareholders and capitalize on the benefits that our structure offers 
to maximize performance. We plan to continue to grow our REALTOR®

network both organically and through acquisition, and to enhance and 
evolve the leadership position of our brands. 

Royal lePage 
Founded in 1913, Royal LePage is  
one of the largest national real estate 
companies in Canada. Since the  
mid-1990s, the Company has more  
than tripled the size of its sales force  
and nearly doubled its market share.  
Royal LePage provides its national  
network with a comprehensive suite  
of marketing, training and lead  
generation services.

Johnston & Daniel
Founded in 1950, Johnston & Daniel  
is the leading residential real estate  
boutique firm selling distinctive homes  
in and around Central Toronto, extending 
to Caledon, King Township and Muskoka 
regions. The Company is affiliated with 
Leading Real Estate Companies of the 
World™ where it is the premier Canadian 
representative for the Luxury Portfolio 
Fine Property Collection segment.

Via CaPitale
In Quebec, Via Capitale has some  
1,500 salespeople located in cities  
and towns across the province. Thanks  
to continuous innovation driving the  
development of unique products like their 
homebuyer and mortgage protection 
plans, the Via Capitale brand continues  
to attract new clients. The Company’s  
performance has been recognized with  
industry awards and consumer accolades.



Brookfield real estate services inc.2

Financial
Highlights

The year 2011

We are pleased with the Company’s financial performance in 2011. 
Cash flow from operations, royalties and net earnings all increased 
when compared against the same period in 2010. The focus and 
objective of the organization remains the North American real  
estate market and our objective of providing shareholders with  
an investment vehicle that pays stable and growing dividends.
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Letter to
 Shareholders
Housing values continued to climb in 2011, with virtually all areas reporting an 
upswing in average price, growth stimulated by an extended period of very  
low interest rates. Despite calls in some quarters for a significant correction  
in Canadian residential property values during the year, the market proved 
resilient as demand created by improving economic conditions encouraged 
activity across all housing types.

While the year produced house price appreciation ahead of expectations, it was not without 
its challenges for our brokerage professionals. The past two year recovery period has been 
characterized by swings in market activity, healthy debates within organized real estate itself as 
to the future role of the brokerage industry, and by new regulations at the provincial and federal 
level – such as much more difficult licensing requirements for new entrants in Quebec.

Through this all, Brookfield Real Estate Services, as one of North America’s largest and most 
respected service providers to the brokerage industry has sought opportunity in this challenging  
and shifting environment, hence the theme of this year’s annual report: evolving industry,  
evolving business scope, and the evolution of our delivery platforms.

Amidst all this change, I am pleased to report to our shareholders that the Company’s  
financial performance was positive, including tax adjusted dividend growth. Royalties and  
net earnings improved in 2011. We continued to attract brokers and REALTORS® via the most 
enviable brands in the business; and we invested in our future – developing and introducing  
the best and most up-to-date technologies and services for our clients – all of which  
contributed to the Company’s success.

As we look back on our fiscal 2011, our business footprint continued to expand; home buyers, 
in spite of the barrage of negative or uncertain market and international economic commentary, 
displayed faith in the Canadian economy, and sought to take advantage of low interest rates. 
Our leading brands continued to be a popular destination for new brokerages and their agents. 
Royal LePage, on the cusp of its one hundredth anniversary, together with Johnston & Daniel 
and Via Capitale, attracted an additional 217 REALTORS® during 2011 by way of acquisition.

Beyond Canada and our existing public company, the Manager made headlines with the  
acquisition of the storied Prudential Residential Real Estate and Relocation Services businesses.  
Prudential Real Estate joins the Real Living business in the Manager’s U.S. based real estate 
portfolio. The Board and Brookfield continue to monitor the slowly recovering American real 
estate industry as a source of potential future growth. 

This year’s report outlines plans and initiatives to support our continued leadership position 
within a changing real estate industry. We remain focused on providing services that help  
our professionals operate profitably and grow their practices; and to delivering strong stable 
dividends for our shareholders, appealing to a growing investor base.

The year past will be remembered for the housing market’s resiliency in the face of the uncertain 
world around it – and for the strides our company made to capitalize on opportunity in a  
changing business environment.

As 2012 unfolds, I look forward to keeping you up to date on our progress.

On behalf of the Board,

Phil Soper 
President and CEO
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services platform
Data is being used in revolutionary new ways in the real estate industry.  
Data underpins decision making and opens windows to enhance the home 
buying and selling experience. To ensure consumers have meaningful  
information at their fingertips, Brookfield Real Estate Services’ brands  
continue to invest in service platforms that ensure data integrity and  
provide insight to the benefit of our agents and their clients.

STAYING AHEAd
In 2011, our Via Capitale brand – which today services the Quebec residential 
real estate market exclusively – celebrated 20 years in business with an extensive 
rebranding, including a name change from La Capitale to the already well-known, 
Via Capitale. Late in 2011, the brand launched new marketing tools to further simplify 
the process of buying and selling real estate with the company and to enhance the 
information provided to clients. Via Mag is a program that creates a custom eight 
page real estate magazine devoted exclusively to marketing a single property, while 
Via Visit lets clients view listings live via their agent’s smartphone camera, all from  
the comfort of their home. These are two more reasons why the Via Capitale brand 
remains strong across Quebec, even as new provincial licensing standards  
introduced in 2011 made becoming a licensed real estate agent in Quebec a more 
rigorous process. The amended name transcends languages, while the ever-evolving 
suite of marketing services positions us for growth in this crucial market.

GIVING BACk
Royal LePage is the only Canadian real estate company with its own branded  
charity. The Royal LePage Shelter Foundation has raised more than $14M since it 
was founded in 1999, and now supports over 30,000 women and children every 
year. One hundred percent of the funds raised, through local fundraising events and 
agent commission donation programs, go towards providing violence prevention 
education in schools, and essentials goods and services to women’s shelters across 
Canada. Over the past five years, the Royal LePage Shelter Foundation has doubled 
its fundraising results and has been recognized with national awards for excellence.

REGuLATORY CHANGES 
Regulatory changes introduced in recent years have sparked interest in the low  
few, narrow service segment of the brokerage industry. Numerous new entrants  
have appeared nationally, although none have achieved even a modest market share 
position. While Brookfield continues to study this market, the full-service market  
segment that our brands occupy remains much more viable and profitable today.  
The vast majority of Canadians continue to trust the expert advice and counsel of  
our licensed, regulated, insured and well-trained professional REALTORS®.

Via Visit lets buyers view listings from their broker’s 
smartphone camera in real time while brokers walk 
through a property and gather information for their 
clients. Another way we’re using technology to deliver 
real estate services to professionals so that they can 
operate profitably.

$425,000 raised 2011 at our 
signature Royal LePage Shelter 
Foundation event. Helping over 
30,000 women and children 
across the country is only  
one of the things we do.

raised by Shelter 
Foundation since  
its founding in 1999

14
million
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we innovate
Our companies are among the largest and most respected real estate brands 
in North America; our commitment to meaningful technology, training and 
marketing services is second to none. This operating platform, in conjunction 
with the careful selection of the strongest regional real estate brokerage firms, 
allows us to generate strong returns for our shareholders. Another distinct 
Brookfield advantage.

Consumers are accessing the Internet 
via their mobile devices in increasing 
numbers and by 2015, mobile will be 
the primary source of online activity*.
* Source: Morgan Stanley Research
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Giving you the keys to any 
neighbourhood across Canada. 
Enable the GPS on m.rlp.ca 
to find amenities including 
schools, banks, grocery stores, 
restaurants and cafés. 

M.RLP.CA
2011 saw mobile media use accelerate across markets, fueled by the popularity 
of smartphones, the growing availability of WiFi, and continuing shifts towards a 
constantly connected consumer lifestyle. To keep pace with the trend, in 2011, 
Royal LePage launched a new and innovative mobile app-like optimized site for 
the Android, iPhone and Blackberry operating platforms. Offering cross-Canada 
listing information as well as never-before-available information on the best 
schools, restaurants and neighbourhoods – m.rlp.ca combines seller and agent 
comments with neighbourhood “walkability scores” and consumer rankings of 
nearby businesses to provide invaluable insight for users. 

The ability to search nationwide property listings or connect with an agent all 
with the click of a button – another way we’ve evolved to meet the changing 
needs of Canadians.

SOCIAL MEdIA
People increasingly use social networking sites not just to interact with their 
friends but also with brands and organizations. Our brands have been very  
active in social media channels, seeking to engage with consumers, impact 
brand perception and recall, as well as promote brand loyalty. Royal LePage  
offers a Social Marketer course and designation to guide agents on how to  
leverage these channels.

changing needs
The real estate industry continues to change. So do the needs of homebuyers. 
While clients continue to seek the advice and services of REALTORS®, they 
 are supplementing these services with Internet searches and through their  
personal social media channels. Today, perhaps more than ever, innovation  
and technology are changing the way REALTORS® and consumers connect  
and engage with real estate.

“ Neighbourhood navigator,” “Info Plus,” “Walkability Scores,” 
plus the ability to contact a listing agent or find a nearby 
Royal LePage office are just some of the features of this 
app-like site and are all a click away on m.rlp.ca. 

50
percent

increase in traffic on the 
mobile website compared 
to desktop, where traffic 
has remained constant.
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6.8% of visits were via  
mobile compared with  
3-4% for the industry.

Via Capitale
Royal LePage

SERVICE

Looking for a house? Something with a two car garage and shopping in  
walking distance? Our brands bring buyers closer to their dream home using 
the most popular smartphone platforms on our new mobile site, m.rlp.ca. 
Finding a property has never been easier. Yet another way we are investing  
in today while bringing growth to Brookfield brands for tomorrow. 

we care
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The keys to success: 68% of our 
revenue is fixed-fee based.

Brands
Our brands include Royal  
LePage, Johnston & Daniel  
Division and Via Capitale.  
Together, they make up  
more than 15,000 real estate 
professionals, working  
across Canada.

expanding portfolio
Delivering exceptional regional real estate services to professionals is a challenging 
proposition. The business is always changing. New market entrants, evolving trends 
and newfangled technologies make having a platform for growth essential. It requires 
a big-picture perspective, continued investment and the ability to offer the best and 
most up-to-date technologies and services to clients. Nothing less will do. 

Our brands make up 22% of the Canadian 
residential real estate industry.

GROWING BY ACquISITION
Brookfield Real Estate Services owns, operates and markets the most  
recognizable brands in North American residential real estate. As part of  
a strong global company, we are focused and deeply immersed in the real  
estate services sector across North America. 

Beyond Canada and our existing public company, the Manager expanded  
significantly with the acquisition of the Prudential Residential Real Estate and  
Relocation Services businesses. Prudential Real Estate joins the Real Living  
business in the Manager’s U.S. based real estate portfolio. The Board and  
Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc. continue to look to the slowly recovering 
American real estate industry as a source of potential future growth. The delivery 
of professional residential real estate services is part of our DNA, as is generating 
strong and stable returns for shareholders. Acquisitions of this size are evidence  
of our long-term commitment to this market and industry leadership.

THE REBIRTH OF ROYAL LePAGE COMMERCIAL 
Innovation and service excellence have been cornerstones of the Royal LePage 
brand since 1913. From dividing land for one of Toronto’s first subdivisions in 
1940, to coordinating the then largest land assembly for the construction of  
landmark office towers in 1957, Royal LePage helped pioneer the growth and 
development of commercial real estate in Canada.

In 2011, the Manager put considerable effort behind the re-launch of Royal LePage 
Commercial, slated for spring 2012. It’s an exciting opportunity for us to service 
the mid-market segment of the commercial brokerage industry. Stay tuned.
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Our brands are among the largest in the North America. Since 1990, we’ve 
tripled the size of our sales force and almost doubled our market share. Our 
industry leadership is second to none. The question is, how do we maintain  
this advantage? By attracting the best talent, and by giving our REALTORS®  
and brokers the tools to operate profitably wherever they are. That’s how. 

we grow

The company generated 466M 
media impressions during the 
calendar year, a 31% increase, 
year-over-year, from the same 
12-month period in 2010.

This high level of visibility contributes to our reputation  
as the voice of Canadian real estate. It is another great 
way we help market our expert advice and unique service 
offerings and also attract and grow our agent count.

The Canadian Resale Residential Real Estate 
$166 Billion Industry.
(1999 – 2011) (In $ Billions)

MARKET DOLLAR VOLUME – CANADIAN RESIDENTIAL RESALE REAL ESTATE MARKET
(1980–2010) (in $ billions) 
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Introduction
This section of our annual report includes management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of our results and financial 
condition for the three months ended December 31, 2011 (the “Quarter”) and year ended December 31, 2011 (the “Year”) 
and has been prepared as at March 23, 2012. The financial information presented herein has been prepared on the basis of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for consolidated financial statements and is expressed in Canadian dollars 
unless otherwise stated. The IFRS-related disclosures and values in this MD&A have been prepared using the standards and 
interpretations issued and effective at December 31, 2011.

The amounts in this MD&A and the accompanying financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 have been 
restated to reflect our adoption of IFRS, with a transition date of January 1, 2010. Please refer to Note 3 of the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements for a summary of the differences between our consolidated financial statements previously 
prepared under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“CGAAP”) and those under IFRS. 

On December 31, 2010, the Brookfield Real Estate Services Fund (the “Fund”) was converted to a corporate structure (the 
“Conversion”) and carried on as Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc. (the “Company”). This MD&A is intended to provide you  
with an assessment of our past performance as well as our financial position, performance objectives and future prospects.  
The information in this section should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2011, prepared in accordance with IFRS. Additional information relating to the Fund and our Company, 
including our Annual Information Form, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. All dollar amounts are in Canadian dollars 
unless otherwise specified. 

Statements contained in this MD&A that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties 
and other factors, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward- 
looking statements. There are a number of external and industry factors related to the residential resale real estate brokerage 
industry and the business of the Company that may affect an investment in the Company’s shares. A summary of these risks  
is outlined in the Company’s Annual Information Form, which is filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. To the extent that these  
risks have changed during 2011, they are discussed in further detail in this MD&A.
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ManageMent’s Discussion anD analysis  
of Results anD financial conDition

1 Cash flow from operations (“CFFO”) is defined by the Company as net income prior to fair value changes, amortization, impairment, interest on Exchangeable units, interest on 
Trust units, income taxes, items related to other income and interests of Exchangeable unitholders. CFFO is used by the Company to measure the amount of cash generated 
from operations, which is available to the Company’s shareholders on a diluted basis, where such dilution represents the total number of shares of the Company that would be 
outstanding if Exchangeable unitholders converted Class B LP units into shares of the Company. The Company uses CFFO to assess its operating results and the value of its 
business and believes that many of its shareholders and analysts also find this measure of value to them. CFFO does not have any standard meaning prescribed by IFRS and 
therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.

2 Agent is defined as an individual who is licensed to buy or sell real estate and is actively doing so through an affiliation with a broker.
3 Sales Representative is defined as an individual who is licensed to buy or sell real estate and is actively doing so through an affiliation with an Agent.

Highlights
Years ended December 31, 
($ 000’s) except Agents, Sales Representatives 
and per share amounts   2011 2010

Royalties      $  36,720  $  36,630 
Less: 
 Administration        1,667  1,771 
 Management fee       6,747  6,713 
 Interest expense       3,042  2,900 

Cash flow from operations1     $  25,264  $  25,246 
Amortization of intangible assets       (13,770)   (13,656)
Impairment of intangible assets       (2,818)   – 
Interest on Exchangeable units       (4,672)   (5,337)
Interest on Trust units       –   (15,212)
Gain (loss) on fair value of Exchangeable units       7,255  (10,416)
Gain (loss) on purchase obligation adjustment       144  (611)
Loss on fair value of Trust unit liability       –   (29,684)
Other income       –   101 
Current income tax expense       (4,183)   – 
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)       796  (1,140)

Net and comprehensive earnings (loss)     $  8,016  $  (50,709)
Basic earnings per share     $  0.85  
Diluted earnings per share     $  0.42  
Cash flow from operations per share     $  1.97  $  1.97 
Total assets     $  111,495  $  123,012 
Total long-term financial liabilities     $  94,493 $  101 708
Number of Agents2 and Sales Representatives3      15,061  15,308

The table above sets out selected historical information and other data for the Company, which should be read in conjunction with the 
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Business strategy
We are a long-established, Canadian-based real estate services firm, originally structured as an Income Trust and subsequently 
converted to a corporate structure on December 31, 2010. We focus on the provision of services to real estate brokers and their Agents, 
who practise predominantly in the residential brokerage segment of the market, in order to assist them with the profitable, efficient and 
effective delivery of real estate sales services in the communities they serve. Through a portfolio of highly regarded real estate 
franchise brands, each of which offers differing value propositions, we cater to the diverse service requirements of regional real estate 
professionals, in virtually all significant population centres, right across Canada.
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Our objective is to provide our stakeholders with an investment vehicle that pays stable and growing dividends. Our revenue is driven 
primarily by royalties derived from long-term franchise contracts. These royalties are weighted toward fees that are fixed in nature; this 
has proven to be effective in moderating the variations in overall industry activity that can occur in the Canadian residential real estate 
market (the “Market”4). We manage our operating costs and associated risks by delivering our services and management of the Company 
through an Amended and Restated Management Services Agreement (“MSA”), which is provided by Brookfield Real Estate Services 
Manager Limited (the “Manager”), a subsidiary of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (“BAM”).

The senior management team of the Manager developed and managed the Royal LePage Network prior to the inception of the Company, 
and BAM, through a wholly owned subsidiary, holds an approximate 26% interest (the “Exchangeable units”, formerly “non-controlling 
interest”, or “NCI”) in the Company. As a result of this arrangement, the underlying costs of the Company are not complex as they are 
limited to management fees paid under the MSA, public operating costs and carrying costs associated with our debt.

The number of REALTORS®5 and transaction volumes generated in the markets we serve, the manner in which we structure our 
contracted revenue streams and our success in attracting Agents and brokers to our brands through our value proposition and track 
record are all key drivers of the Company’s performance. These drivers, in combination with other uncontrollable risk factors, including 
the economy at large, government and regulatory activity (see Recent Developments), all impact the Company’s performance and are 
discussed in greater detail throughout this MD&A.

Through the Manager, we seek to further increase dividends by increasing our Agent count through the acquisition of franchise contracts 
and attracting and retaining brokers and their Agents through the provision of additional fee for service offerings and the provision of 
services, which increases our brokers’ and their Agents’ productivity.

As at December 31, 2011, there were 15,061 Canadian REALTORS®, operating from 654 locations, providing services under the 
Royal LePage, Johnston & Daniel and Via Capitale brand names (collectively the “Company Network”). The associated franchise contract 
stream (see Structure of Company Royalties) was approximately 68% fixed and 32% variable in 2011, which after operating costs 
delivered $1.97 of CFFO per Share for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 ($1.97 – 2010, see Cash Flow From Operations), 
against which the Company distributed $1.10 per share in 2011 to shareholders, down from $1.60 per share in 2010, as a result of 
converting from an Income Trust to a taxable corporate structure.

structure of company Royalties
RoYaltY Fees
The Company generates royalties with both fixed and variable fee components. During 2011, approximately 68% of the annual royalties 
were partially insulated from market fluctuations as they were not directly driven by transaction volumes. Management believes that the 
combination of a royalty stream based on the number of REALTORS® in the Network, increasing Agent and broker productivity and an 
increasing supply of new housing inventory provides the base for a strong and stable cash flow. A summary of these fees is as follows:

Fixed royalty fees are based on the number of Agents and fee-paying Sales Representatives, collectively “selling-REALTORS®”, in the 
Company Network. Fixed franchise fees from Royal LePage franchisees consist of a monthly fixed fee of $100 per selling-REALTOR®, 
a technology fee and other fees, while those from Via Capitale franchisees consist primarily of a monthly fee of approximately $170 per 
selling-REALTOR®.

Variable royalty fees are primarily driven by the volume of business transacted by our Agents. Variable franchise fees from Royal 
LePage franchisees are driven by the transactional dollar volume transacted by the Agents and are derived as 1% of each Agent’s gross 
commission income, subject to a cap of $1,300 per year. In 2011, 19% (2010 – 18%) of the Agents in the Company Network reached the 
royalty cap.

In addition to these fees, 23 of the Company’s larger Royal LePage locations situated in the Greater Toronto Area (“GTA”) pay a premium 
franchise fee ranging from 1% to 5% of the location’s gross revenue. Of these locations, 16 are operated by the Manager and are 
contractually obligated to pay the premium franchise fee to August 2018.

4 The Market is defined as the dollar value of residential resale units sold (“transactional dollar volume”) over a twelve-month period in a particular geographic area.
5 REALTOR® is defined as an individual licensed to trade in real estate and includes brokers, Agents and Sales Representatives.
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Approximately 88% (88% – 2010) of the Company’s royalties during the Year were derived from the combined fixed fee per REALTOR® 
per month, 1% variable royalty fee and premium franchise fees. The remaining royalty stream is made up of other fees and services 
generated from APEC fees, technology fees and other fees.

NetwoRk RoYaltY PRoFile
the Royal lePage Network: The fees generated from the Royal LePage Network accounted for 91% of the Company’s fees in 2011 
(91% – 2010) and are primarily made up of a fixed monthly fee per Agent of $100 plus a $20 technology fee per participating franchisee 
(representing 96% of Agents in 2011, 95% in 2010), a variable fee equal to 1% of the fees generated by the Agent (capped at $1,300 per 
Agent), learning services fees and a premium variable fee, as described above. Under this structure, exclusive of ancillary fees, an Agent 
earning in excess of the $1,300 per annum fee cap will contribute $2,740 per annum to the Company. In 2011, 19% (2010 – 18%) of the 
Royal LePage Agents capped on the $1,300 variable fee.

Due to the variable fee-capping feature, approximately 67% (68% – 2010) of the Royal LePage Network fees were fixed in nature.

the Via Capitale Network: The fees generated from the Via Capitale Network, which services the Quebec market, accounted for 9% of 
the Company’s fees in 2011 and 2010. These fees are primarily made up of a fixed monthly fee per Agent of $170 ($2,040 per annum) and 
fees generated from APEC fees. In 2011, approximately 78% (76% – 2010) of Via Capitale’s royalties were fixed in nature.

Monthly Dividends
The targeted annual cash dividend payable to public shareholders for 2012 is $1.10 per share, to be paid monthly. Management and the 
Board of Directors periodically review the Company’s targeted dividends and distributions.

overview of 2011 operating Results
The Company ended 2011 with the generation of cash flow from operations of $1.97 per share, which was unchanged from 2010. 
Revenue for 2011 was flat to 2010 as compared to the 9.6% increase in the Canadian Market, as the Company Network decreased by 
247 Agents and the percentage of Agents capping under the $100/1% variable fee option increased from 18% to 19%. 

The decrease in Agents consisted of a decline of 494 Agents partially offset by the 247 Agents acquired through the acquisition of 
contracts at the beginning of 2011. The decrease in Agents is attributed to the increased education and costs of association for Quebec-
based Agents, which has resulted in a decline in new Agents entering the Quebec market, the loss of Agents through the non-renewal 
of a limited number of franchise operations in the British Columbia market and a loss of Agents to the discount broker market. This net 
decrease of 1.6% in the Company Network for 2011 is in contrast to a 2.4% increase experienced in the overall Canadian Market, which 
has resulted in an estimated 22% market share in 2011 as compared to 23% in 2010. 

Despite the decrease in Agents the Company Network remains strong, with the Company’s Agents generating an average transactional 
dollar volume of $2.38 million per annum, which is 61% more productive than the rest of the Canadian realtor network and is virtually 
unchanged from 2010. The Company’s renewal of contracts representing 1,069 Agents remains strong at 95% for the contracts that 
were up for renewal in 2011 and 96% when early renewals are taken into account. 

Operating costs comprising administration fees, management fees and interest charges remain virtually unchanged in 2011 as a 
$0.5 million provision for a limited number of franchisees experiencing market and financial difficulties, and a slight increase in interest 
costs, have largely been offset by the non-recurrence of $0.7 million of costs incurred in 2010 with respect to the conversion of the 
Company from an Income Trust to a corporate structure. 

ReView oF YeaR-oVeR-YeaR MaRket aCtiVitY
To understand what has transpired in the Market for 2011 and how it impacts our outlook for 2012, a review of 2011 and 2010 Market 
activity is required. 

Market transactional dollar volume for the Year of $166.1 billion closed up 10% from December 31, 2010, driven by a 7% increase in 
selling price and a modest increase in home sale activity of 3%. For the three months ended December 31, 2011, transactional dollar 
volume was up 11% over the same period in 2010, driven by a 4% and 7% increase in selling price and home sale activity, respectively. 
The steady increase in selling price is largely driven by the consistent shortage of listings, resulting in competition among home buyers for 
the Year and Quarter, and low interest rates, which continue to draw home buyers into the Market. 
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While home sale activity for the Year as compared to 2010 increased moderately by 3%, home sale activity on a quarter-over-same-quarter 
basis increased by 7% due to a more active Market and the fall-off of Market activity in the second half of 2010. 

In 2010, the Market was up significantly for the first two quarters as consumers sought to complete their home purchases ahead of the 
HST and tighter mortgage-lending rules, which reduced home sale activity in the third and fourth quarters. The fourth quarter of 2011, 
which is typically the slower season of the home-purchase cycle, saw a normalization of Market activity to the ten-year national average.

RoYalties
The most significant drivers of the Company’s royalties are Market activity, the number of Agents in the Company Network and 
competition. The chart below summarizes the percentage change in transactional dollar volume in Canada, the Company’s royalties and 
number of Agents on a rolling twelve-month quarter-over-quarter basis since 2008. As noted from the chart, the vend-in of franchise 
agreements in the first quarter of each year and the organic growth of Agents, combined with the fixed-fee nature of our royalties, 
mitigate the impact of Market fluctuations. In addition, the lag effect of the Company’s policy of recording variable and premium fee 
royalties when a home sale transaction closes, which occurs after the home sale has been reported by the Market, is quite evident. 

As at December 31, 2011, the Company Network consisted of 15,061 REALTORS®, operating under 389 franchise agreements, providing 
services from 654 locations, with an approximate 22% share of the Market based on 2011 transactional dollar volume. The Company 
experienced a net loss of 247 Agents during the Year, primarily from the province of Quebec, which reflects the increased educational 
requirements and association costs of becoming a REALTOR® in that province.

Recent Developments 
iNteRNet Data exChaNge
In the Canadian residential real estate industry, Royal LePage has been among the strongest proponents of the Internet Data Exchange 
(“IDX”) movement, which will give Multiple Listing Service (“MLS”) participants the tool they need to display each other’s listings on their 
websites and allow consumers to view all listings available at once, regardless of what real estate company owns the listing.

In October 2011, the Canadian Real Estate Association (“CREA”) formally agreed to support the IDX initiative and is moving ahead, 
developing the technology platform required to enable the transfer of data. We are hopeful that in 2012, the Company will be in a position 
to take advantage of this market opportunity, generated as a result of improved access to information. Subsequently, we believe that this 
will further our ability to attract and grow our Agent count as we make investments in the technology necessary to take advantage of this 
improved model.

CoMPetitioN BuReau
On May 27, 2011, the Competition Bureau announced that it had filed an application with the Competition Tribunal, seeking to prohibit 
potentially anti-competitive practices by the Toronto Real Estate Board (“TREB”), which may be restricting consumer choice and the 
ability of real estate businesses to introduce innovative real estate brokerage services through the Internet. TREB is the largest real estate 
board in Canada, with approximately 31,000 members. It owns and operates the Toronto Multiple Listing Service system (the “Toronto 
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MLS system”), which contains current property listings and historical information about the purchase and sale of residential real estate in 
Toronto and the surrounding area, including data about previous listings and selling prices, historical prices for comparable properties in 
the area and the amount of time a property has been on the market. Some of this information is accessible only to TREB’s members and 
not available on other public websites.

While member Agents can provide detailed MLS listing information not available on public websites to customers verbally and by hand, 
mail, fax or e-mail, the Competition Bureau contends that TREB is engaging in anti-competitive practices by effectively restricting its 
member Agents from providing the same MLS listing information to customers via public websites or other means, such as password-
protected websites, also called Virtual Office Websites (“VOWs”). According to the Bureau, the existence of such services could allow a 
consumer to search a full inventory of listings containing up-to-date data online.

On August 19, 2011, TREB responded to the Competition Bureau’s concerns by following through on its commitment to develop a VOW 
policy. TREB continues to ensure that the privacy of consumer and member information is protected. Notwithstanding the official 
response received from TREB, the Competition Bureau continues to pursue TREB about its perceived anti-competitive practices through 
its application with the Competition Tribunal, filed in May 2011.

On November 2, 2011, the Competition Tribunal accepted CREA’s application for leave to intervene and is willing to hear the proceedings 
that the Competition Bureau has brought against TREB for anti-competitive practices. This is a welcome decision for CREA and CREA 
members. CREA is one of Canada’s largest single-industry trade associations, representing more than 100,000 REALTORS®.

The Company does not believe that the Competition Bureau’s dispute with TREB will have a material adverse impact on its business. 
Our real estate Agents and their clients both want to be able to advertise their listed properties in the most effective manner, whether 
this be on the Realtor.ca website (operated by MLS) or some other alternative. Our Agents have legitimate concerns about the privacy 
and the proprietary nature of their listing information. That said, we encourage openness in our industry where practical and believe that 
real estate listing websites will continue to expand and flourish, regardless of the outcome of the current dispute between TREB and the 
Competition Bureau.

DisCouNt BRokeRage aCtiVitY aND iMPaCt
At present, discount brokerage continues to compete within the low-fee, narrow service segment of the Canadian real estate market. It 
has not had a substantive impact on the Company’s financial performance to date. It is expected that the impact of discount brokerage 
models will be largely contained to this market segment, as opposed to the full-service brokerage segment in which Company 
businesses operate. Longer-term, it is anticipated that consumers will continue to look to professionals to guide them through the  
home-buying and -selling process.

Basis oF PReseNtatioN oF the CoNsoliDateD FiNaNCial stateMeNts
In our first quarter MD&A, we provided disclosure regarding the presentation of our consolidated financial results in accordance with 
IFRS and the impact of the Conversion to a Corporation. As these changes are no longer a recent development, but continue to impact 
the basis of presentation of previously reported results, we have included this disclosure later in this MD&A.

Key Performance Drivers
The key drivers of the Company’s business and dividends payable to shareholders are:

1. the number of REALTORS® in the Company;

2. transaction volumes;

3. the stability of the Company’s royalty stream; and

4. the Company’s growth opportunities.

A summary of our performance against these drivers and a discussion of the underlying Market and REALTOR® population follows, along 
with a review of Company Network growth, diversity and productivity against these variables.

NuMBeR oF RealtoRs® iN the CoMPaNY
As at December 31, 2011, the Company Network consisted of 15,061 REALTORS® operating under 389 franchise agreements, providing 
services from 654 locations, with an approximate 22% share of the Market based on 2011 transactional dollar volume.
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For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company Network decreased by 247 Agents, or 1.6%, consisting of 247 Agents acquired 
through the acquisition of contracts at the beginning of the Year, less an attrition of 494 Agents, of which 106 occurred in the first 
quarter, 88 in the second quarter, 66 in the third quarter and 234 in the fourth quarter. A substantial portion of the attrition in Agents 
experienced in the Company Network during 2011 occurred in our Quebec franchise operations as the introduction of new real estate 
regulations significantly increased the educational requirements and association costs. Consequently, fewer new Agents entered the 
industry. The introduction of these regulations directly impacted our Quebec-based franchisees as the typical turnover and replacement 
of non-producing Agents with new Agents experienced by our franchises did not occur. In addition to the attrition in the Quebec market, 
the Company experienced a modest decrease in the BC market due primarily to the non-renewal of a limited number of franchise 
agreements and Agent attrition.

During the Year, franchise agreements representing 1,069 Agents were up for renewal with a 95% renewal rate, while other franchisees 
representing 180 Agents renewed ahead of their contracted renewal dates resulting in an overall renewal rate of 96%. 

tRaNsaCtioN VoluMes
The performance of the Company is dependent upon the receipt of royalty revenue, which, in turn, is partially dependent on the level of 
residential resale real estate transactions. The residential real estate industry is affected by all of the factors impacting the economy in 
general, including changes in interest rates, unemployment and inflation.

During the Quarter, the national market experienced a quarter-over-same-quarter increase of 11%, driven by a 4% and a 7% increase in 
selling price and home sale activity, respectively. The Market transactional dollar volume of $166.1 billion for the Year was up 10% from 
2010, driven by a 7% increase in selling price and an increase in home sale activity of 3%. 

The steady increase in selling price during the Year and for the Quarter is largely driven by the consistent shortage of listings, resulting in 
competition among home buyers, and low interest rates, which continue to draw home buyers into the Market. 

Market transactional dollar volume for the Year of $166.1 billion closed up 10% from December 31, 2010, driven by a 7% increase in 
selling price and a modest 3% increase in home sale activity. For the three months ended December 31, 2011, transactional dollar 
volume was up 11% over the same period in 2010, driven by a 4% and 7% increase in selling price and home sale activity, respectively. 
The steady increase in selling price is largely driven by the consistent shortage of listings, resulting in competition among home buyers for 
the Year and Quarter, and low interest rates, which continue to draw home buyers into the Market. 

While home sale activity for the Year as compared to 2010 increased moderately by 3%, home sale activity on a quarter-over-same-
quarter basis increased by 7% due to a more active Market and the fall-off of Market activity in the second half of 2010. 

In 2010, the Market was up significantly for the first two quarters as consumers sought to complete their home purchases ahead of the 
HST and tighter mortgage-lending rules, which reduced home sale activity in the third and fourth quarters. The fourth quarter of 2011, 
which is typically the slower season of the home-purchase cycle, saw a normalization of Market activity to the ten-year national average.

During the Quarter, the GTA Market experienced a quarter-over-same-quarter increase of 19% on an 8% and 11% increase in selling 
price and home sale activity, respectively. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, the GTA Market experienced a 12% increase 
on an 8% and 4% increase in selling price and home sale activity, respectively, from December 31, 2010, for reasons described above. 
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A summary of the key Market and related activity, as reported by the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (the “CMHC”), CREA 
and TREB, follows.

From CMHC1: Sales of existing homes are expected to remain stable through to the end of 2011 at 450,100 units, while selling prices are 
expected to remain fairly constant at $363,900 by the end of the year. 

From CREA2: Holding in line with the ten-year average, activity in 2011 pulled ahead of sales over the same period in 2010, remaining 
firmly entrenched in balanced territories. National sales activity is forecast to reach 451,800 units in 2012, up less than 1% from 2011, 
while average home prices are forecast to rise 7.0% in 2011 to $362,700.

From TREB3: GTA home sales activity during 2011 amounted to 89,347 units, representing a 4% increase compared to the same period 
in 2010. A shortage of listings resulted in more competition among home buyers, accelerating the growth in average selling price to close 
to 8% on a year-over-year basis.

staBilitY oF the CoMPaNY’s RoYaltY stReaM
The stability of the Company’s royalty stream is derived from the following factors:

•	 The fixed nature of the Company Network agreements (see Structure of Company Royalties) is primarily driven by the number of 
REALTORS® in the Company Network, which results in an approximate 68% fixed and 32% variable royalty stream that partially 
insulates the Company from fluctuations in the Market.

•	 The Company’s royalties are derived from a diverse Network of independently owned and operated franchisees, the majority of which 
operate with fewer than 50 Agents (72% – 2011, 71% – 2010), thereby mitigating the impact of any one franchisee’s results.

•	 The geographic distribution of the Company Network of REALTORS® is similar to the distribution of the overall Canadian REALTORS® 
population, with over-representation in the province of Quebec as a result of the acquisition of the Via Capitale Network and an under-
representation in western Canada. This distribution of REALTORS® mitigates the impact of a single Market on the Company’s results.

•	 The Royal LePage agreements, which make up 92% of the Company’s REALTORS®, are ten to 20 years in duration, significantly 
exceeding the industry norm of five years and thereby reducing agreement renewal risk. At the time of the initial public offering (“IPO”), 
the Company’s Royal LePage franchise agreements were largely subject to five-year renewal terms. Subsequent to the IPO, the 
Company’s renewal terms for agreement additions are typically ten years in duration. The Company further extended agreements 
in existence at IPO to ten years as and when opportunities present themselves. The Company’s overall agreement renewal profile 
by year is not overly skewed to any one year and, as such, is very manageable. A summary of our agreement renewal profiles as at 
December 31, 2011 for our combined Royal LePage and Via Capitale networks is as follows:

1 Source: CMHC Housing Market Outlook – Third Quarter 2011, published October 5, 2011.
2 Source: CREA Updates Resale Housing Forecast, published November 15, 2011.
3 Source: TREB Market Watch December 2011, published January 5, 2012.
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The Company has historically enjoyed 99%-plus renewal success of franchise agreements as they come due (96% – 2011), expressed as 
a percentage of the number of REALTORS® at year-end. Due to the ongoing success of our franchisees, a number of opportunities such 
as increasing franchisee locations provide an opportunity to renew franchise agreements before they come due, and 2011 is no exception. 

During 2011, the Company renewed nine franchise agreements representing 400 Agents in the Via Capitale Network and 25 franchise 
agreements representing 799 Agents in the Royal LePage Network. The Company terminated seven franchise agreements representing 
54 Agents during the Year. During the Quarter, the Company renewed three franchise agreements representing 178 Agents in the 
Via Capitale Network and terminated two franchise agreements representing four Agents in the Royal LePage Network. In 2011, the 
Company also saw an attrition of 494 Agents from the province of Quebec, which reflects the increased educational requirements and 
association costs of becoming a REALTOR® in that province. In addition to the attrition in the Quebec market, the Company experienced 
a modest decrease in the BC market due primarily to the non-renewal of a limited number of franchise agreements and Agent attrition.

CoMPaNY’s gRowth oPPoRtuNities
Our growth objective for 2012 in light of the economy and Market conditions is to modestly increase the year-over-year Company 
Network of REALTORS®.

Since the inception of the Company in August 2003 with 9,238 REALTORS®, the Company Network has increased by 63% 
(5,823 REALTORS®), of which approximately two-thirds has been through acquisitions and one-third through organic growth in 
our Network.

Growth through acquisition is achieved through the purchase of franchise agreements acquired by the Manager’s dedicated network 
development team.

Growth in overall royalties is achieved by increasing the number of REALTORS® in the Company, increasing the productivity of Agents, 
expanding the range of products and services supporting franchisees and their Agents, increasing the adoption of these products and 
services, and providing sales and marketing programs to the Company Network. These services are supported by ongoing training 
programs for franchisees and REALTORS®, which assist in leveraging the Company’s competitive advantage to attract and retain 
potential recruits.

On January 1, 2012, franchise agreements representing 25 locations, serviced by an estimated 217 Agents operating under the Royal 
LePage and Via Capitale brands, were purchased by the Company. The estimated purchase price of these agreements is $2.9 million, 
with an estimated annual royalty stream of $0.5 million.

The average Company Network REALTOR® generated $2.38 million in transactional dollar volume in 2011, which was 61% greater than 
all other Canadian REALTORS® and down 0.2% from 2010 (see REALTOR® Productivity).

The Manager continues to develop, introduce and support new tools, services and programs, which assist franchisees in attracting and 
retaining REALTORS®, increasing their productivity and reducing administration costs.

the canadian Residential Resale Real estate Market
Since 1980, the Market has grown at a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 9.4%. The Canadian Market has been very resilient, 
with three significant downturns occurring in 1990, 1995 and 2008, all of which returned to pre-downturn levels within 24 months. The 
duration of these Market downturns was 13, 14 and 16 months, respectively, with decreases of 26%, 21% and 19%, respectively.

During the most recent downturn, the Market declined 19% during the 16-month period February 2008 through May 2009, with the 
most significant decline occurring during the fourth quarter of 2008, when the Market decreased 40% when compared to the fourth 
quarter of 2007. The Market improvement in 2009 began with the rate of decline moderating steadily from January to May, followed by 
four months of increasing market growth and subsequently ending the year with very strong growth of 90% in the quarter over the same 
period in 2008. The strong Market continued into the first half of 2010 due in part to consumers seeking to close home sales ahead of 
government-mandated changes to mortgage rules, anticipated increases in mortgage rates and the introduction of the HST on July 1, 
2010. These Market factors pulled 57% of the 2010 Market activity into the first half of 2010, compared to 46% in 2009, resulting in a 
year-over-year decline in the second half of 2010, which when combined with the first half of 2010, saw the overall Market up by 1.7% for 
the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2010, compared to the same period in 2009.
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During the 1990 downturn, interest rates were relatively high, and there was significant speculation in the form of building and multiple 
home ownerships. Since that time, lenders now require builders to pre-sell a significant portion of their developments before advancing 
funds, and under the new mortgage-lending rules (see Recent Developments), non-owner-occupied property purchases that qualify for 
mortgage insurance have increased down payment requirements.

the canadian Real estate Realtor® Population
The number of REALTORS® in the Company Network is a key driver of the Company’s results. For the year ended December 31, 2011, 
the Canadian real estate REALTOR® membership grew by 2.4% to 104,407 members, with an average of 4.4 units sold per REALTOR®, 
compared to 3.8%, 101,916 and 4.4 units sold per REALTOR®, respectively, in 2010. The number of REALTORS® in the Company 
Network decreased by 1.6% over the same period (increase of 4.6% – 2010). The Canadian REALTOR® population and the average 
number of units sold per REALTOR® are summarized in the chart below.

MARKET DOLLAR VOLUME – CANADIAN RESIDENTIAL RESALE REAL ESTATE MARKET
(1981–2011) (in $ billions) 
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the company network Realtors® growth 
RealtoR® gRowth
As at December 31, 2011, the Company Network consisted of independently owned and operated franchisees operating under 
389 franchise agreements, operating from 654 locations, serviced by 15,061 REALTORS®.

During the Quarter, the Company Network decreased by 234 REALTORS®. On a year-to-date basis, the Company Network decreased 
by 247 Agents. A substantial portion of the attrition in Agents experienced in the Company Network during 2011 occurred in our 
Quebec franchise operations as the introduction of new real estate regulations significantly increased the educational requirements 
and association costs. Consequently, fewer new Agents entered the industry. The introduction of these regulations directly impacted 
our Quebec-based franchisees as the typical turnover and replacement of non-producing Agents with new Agents experienced by our 
franchisees did not occur. In addition to the attrition in the Quebec market, the Company experienced a modest decrease in the BC 
market due primarily to the non-renewal of a limited number of franchise agreements.

suMMaRY oF CaNaDiaN aND CoMPaNY gRowth iN RealtoRs®

    Canada* The Company Network

       Number of   Number of  
       Licensed %  Licensed % 
       Members Change  Members Change

opening          98,161   1.0      14,631  0.3 

2010 Q1          1,658   1.7      639  4.3 
2010 Q2          1,249   1.3      25  0.2 
2010 Q3          538   0.5      27  0.2 
2010 Q4          310   0.3     (14)   (0.1)

opening          101,916   3.8      15,308  4.6 

2011  Q1          1,291   1.3     141   0.9
2011  Q2          522  0.5     (88)  (0.6)
2011  Q3          474  0.5     (66)  (0.4)
2011  Q4          204  0.2     (234)   (1.5)

Closing          104,407   2.5     15,061  (1.6) 

* Source – CREA

Year ended December 31, except 2012
* As at January 1, 2012
** 247 REALTOR® growth of 1.6% consisting of 188 from the Royal LePage brand and 59 from the Via Capitale brand
***  217 REALTOR® growth of 1.4% consisting of 145 from the Royal LePage brand and 72 from the Via Capitale brand
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network Diversity
The Company Network consists of diverse operations, with approximately 72% of the Company’s franchisees operating with fewer than 
50 REALTORS® as at December 31, 2011. As summarized in the table below, the Company Network of REALTORS® is geographically 
diverse, with REALTORS® spread throughout Canada, with a more pronounced presence in the province of Quebec as a result of the 
Via Capitale franchise network.

      Canadian Company 
      REALTOR® Network 
      Population REALTORS®

Ontario      51%  55%
Prairies      13%  10%
BC        18%  12%
Quebec      15%  20%
Maritimes      3%  3%

Total        100%  100%

Source: CREA

Realtor® Productivity
The average Company Network REALTOR® generated approximately $2.38 million in transactional dollar volume in 2011, down 0.2% 
from 2010. This productivity was 61% greater than the estimated average of $1.48 million for all other Canadian REALTORS®, down 13.7% 
from 2010. Management believes that the higher productivity of Company Network REALTORS® makes the Company less prone than 
the industry at large to a loss of REALTORS® during a period of reduced transactional dollar volume. A summary of average transactional 
dollar volume per REALTOR® for the year ended December 31, 1994 through 2011 is as follows:
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year-to-Date operating Results
Years ended December 31,  
($ 000’s) except Agents, Sales Representatives and per share amounts   2011 2010

Royalties   
 Fixed franchise fees     $  18,955  $  18,715 
 Variable franchise fees       8,218  8,245 
 Premium franchise fees       5,242  5,225 
 Other revenue and services       4,305  4,445 

          36,720  36,630 

Less:   
 Administration       1,667  1,771 
 Management fee       6,747  6,713 
 Interest expense       3,042  2,900 

          11,456  11,384 

Cash flow from operations       25,264  25,246 

Amortization of intangible assets       13,770  13,656 
Impairment of intangible assets       2,818  – 
Interest on Exchangeable units       4,672  5,337 
Interest on Trust units       –  15,212 
(Gain) loss on fair value of Exchangeable units      (7,255)   10,416 
(Gain) loss on purchase obligation adjustment      (144)   611 
Loss on fair value of Trust unit liability       –  29,684 
Other income       –   (101)

Earnings (loss) before income tax       11,403   (49,569)
Current income tax expense      (4,183)   – 
Deferred income tax recovery (expense)       796   (1,140)

Net and comprehensive earnings (loss)     $  8,016  $  (50,709)
Basic earnings per share     $  0.85  
Diluted earnings per share     $  0.42  

Number of Agents      14,079   14,255 
Number of fixed-fee-paying Sales Representatives      682   752 

As summarized in the table above, during the Year, the Company generated CFFO of $25.3 million as well as net and comprehensive 
earnings before income taxes of $11.4 million, as compared to CFFO of $25.2 million and net and comprehensive loss before income 
taxes of $49.6 million for the same period in 2010. 

the Company Network as at December 31, 2011 consisted of 14,079 Agents and 982 Sales Representatives, 682 of whom operate 
under the $100 per month fixed-fee plan and 300 of whom are primarily brokers and managers who do not pay fees. Primarily all of our 
franchisees operate under the per Agent combined flat fee of $100 per month and 1% of gross earnings option (the “$100/1% option”) or 
the approximate $170 per month flat fee.

Royalties for the Year totalled $36.7 million, compared to $36.6 million for the same period in 2010. Fixed, variable and premium 
franchise fees together represented 88% of royalties (88% – 2010). The 0.3% increase in royalties was primarily attributed to higher fixed 
franchise fees resulting from vend-ins of franchise agreements at the beginning of the Year. A more detailed discussion of these results is 
provided below and in the Overview of Fourth Quarter 2011 Operating Results.

Fixed franchise fees for the Year increased by 1.3% over the same period in 2010, due primarily to the addition of Agents through the 
vend-in mechanism at the beginning of 2011, which resulted in a $0.2 million increase in fixed fees for the early first half of the Year, 
partially offset by a loss of Agents that occurred throughout 2011, resulting in a net attrition of 247 Agents for the Year.
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Variable franchise fees for the Year were flat against the same period in 2010 despite a 10% increase in the Canadian Market for the 
Year as compared to 2010, due to the decline in Agents described earlier and the capping nature of the Company’s variable fee structure. 

Premium franchise fees are derived from the 23 franchise locations servicing the GTA Market, which pay premium franchise fees 
ranging from 1% to 5% of the location’s gross revenue. Premium franchise fees for the Year increased modestly by 0.3% over the same 
period in 2010. Similar to the Canadian Market, the GTA Market increased by 12% for the same period in 2011, which was largely skewed 
by the fall-off of Market activity as home buyers pushed their purchases toward the early part of 2010 to avoid the introduction of tighter 
mortgage-lending rules, the introduction of the HST and increased borrowing costs. The modest increase in the Company’s premium 
franchise fees can be attributed to the Market conditions in the individual market areas serviced by the premium-fee-paying franchises; 
these conditions differ from the overall GTA Market.

other fees and services include APEC fees, technology fees and other fees, which accounted for approximately 12% of royalties for the 
Year, which is consistent with 2010.

administration expenses of $1.7 million for the Year were down $0.1 million from 2010, due primarily to the non-recurrence of 
$0.7 million in costs associated with the Conversion of the Fund to a corporate structure and transition to IFRS in 2010. This reduction 
in cost was partially offset by $0.5 million in provisions against accounts receivable relating to a limited number of franchisees that 
experienced market and financial difficulties during 2011. 

Management fee expense of $6.7 million for the Year was flat to 2010, which was in line with the underlying royalty fees. Management 
fees are determined in accordance with the amended and restated MSA, and they are calculated as 30% of net royalty fees earned 
(defined as distributable cash in the MSA) from the Via Capitale franchise agreements and 20% of the balance of royalties less 
administration and interest costs.

interest expense consists of interest on the Company’s fixed rate $32.7 million private debt placement, variable rate $20.3 million 
credit facility and interest on the Company’s purchase obligation. During the Year, the Company’s interest expense totalled $3.0 million, 
up $0.1 million from the same period in 2010. The increase in interest expense is due primarily to interest payable on the Company’s 
purchase obligation.

aMoRtizatioN oF iNtaNgiBle assets
Intangible assets relate to the values attributed to the franchise agreements and trademarks acquired by the Company since August 7, 
2003. Franchise agreements and trademarks are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life. Amortization during the 
Year totalled $13.8 million, which is consistent with $13.7 million in 2010.

iMPaiRMeNt oF iNtaNgiBle assets
During the Year, the Company recorded an impairment charge against the franchise agreements and trademarks of $2.8 million, the 
majority of which relates to the non-renewal of franchise contracts, the renewal of contracts for shorter terms than anticipated at the 
time of the acquisition and the deterioration of certain franchisees as a result of market and financial difficulties. Impairment of intangible 
assets is a  non-cash charge, which reflects valuation methodologies adopted as a result of transitioning to IFRS.

interest on exchangeable units represents the targeted pre-tax distribution of $1.10 per annum, $0.28 per quarter paid to the 
Exchangeable unitholders. 

interest on trust units represents the targeted distribution of $1.10 per annum in 2011, or $0.28 per quarter, paid to public unitholders 
of the Fund. As discussed later in this MD&A (see Basis of Presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements), under IFRS, the 
public unitholders’ interest in the Fund is classified as Trust unit liability in 2010 and as a component of shareholders’ equity as restricted 
voting shares effective December 31, 2010, when the public exchanged their Fund units for restricted voting shares. Consequently, the 
distributions declared payable to the Fund unitholders are classified as interest expense in 2010 and subsequently as dividends in 2011.

gain (loss) on fair value of exchangeable units and trust unit liability represents the change in fair value during the period of the 
underlying 26% interest of the Exchangeable units in the Company and Trust unit liability held by the public. As the Company’s share 
price decreased in value during the Year, the Company recorded a gain for the resultant decrease in the fair value of the underlying 
obligations. As noted earlier, the Conversion on December 31, 2010 re-characterized the public’s interest as a component of 
shareholders’ equity, thereby eliminating the Trust unit liability classification in 2011.
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gain (loss) on purchase obligation adjustment represents the expected change to the purchase price of franchise agreements 
purchased based on future earn-out provisions governed by the terms set out in the MSA. Changes in the fair value of purchase 
obligations are recognized as gains or losses in the period in which they arise. During the Year, the Company recorded a gain of 
$0.1 million resulting from an expected reduction in the purchase obligation for franchise agreements acquired on January 1, 2011 
as a result of lower than expected annual royalties at the time of purchase. 

CuRReNt iNCoMe tax
Upon Conversion to a corporate structure, the Company is subject to tax. Prior to 2011, the Company in its Fund format was not subject 
to income tax; accordingly, there is no comparative current tax in 2010. The expected tax rate for 2011 is 28.25%, with anticipated 
effective cash taxes of 22.5% once the Company’s available tax shield and estimated taxable income for the Year are taken into account. 
As this is the Company’s first year as a corporate structure, the Company is not required to make installments. Accordingly, the Company 
expects to continue to record a current income tax expense and liability and made an expected tax payment on February 28, 2012. 
During the Year, the Company recorded a current income tax expense of $4.2 million, reflecting a 28.25% tax rate on taxable income.

Up to the close of business on December 31, 2010, the Company was taxed as an Income Trust. Under the Company’s Amended 
and Restated Declaration of Trust, the maximum tax deductions available to the Company will be claimed to the extent that they bring 
the taxable income of the Trust to $nil. To ensure that all taxable income of the Company was distributed and therefore not subject to 
tax within the Fund structure, the Board declared a special dividend of $0.20 per unit to unitholders of record on December 30, 2010, 
payable on January 28, 2011.

The deductions available to the Company are made up of the costs of the offering and intangible assets. The estimated deductions 
available to the Company as at December 31, 2010 are made up of intangible assets of the Residential Income Fund L.P. and 9120 Real 
Estate Network, L.P. (the “LP”), acquisitions of franchise agreements subsequent to inception and costs associated with the $53 million 
debt refinancing.

DeFeRReD iNCoMe tax
Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of intangible assets and 
their tax basis, and they are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are actually paid or recovered. As at 
December 31, 2011, the Company’s deferred tax asset was $3.4 million (December 31, 2010 – $2.6 million) and was calculated 
using an effective tax rate of 25% (2010 – 25%). During the Year, the Company recorded a $0.8 million deferred income tax recovery 
(2010 – expense of $1.1 million) related to differences in the relative amounts of amortization deducted for tax and accounting purposes. 
The Company is subject to a variety of Canadian federal and provincial tax laws and regulations. Changes to these laws or regulations 
may affect our tax asset, current tax liability, return on investments and business operations.

Cash Flow FRoM oPeRatioNs
For the Year, the Company generated CFFO of $1.97 per restricted voting share, which was unchanged from 2010. The 2010 per share 
amount is inclusive of a $0.05 charge per share for the cost of converting the Fund structure to a corporate structure, while the 2011 per 
share amount is inclusive of a $0.06 charge per share for provisions against accounts receivable. A summary of the Company’s CFFO 
per share is presented in the following table:

Rolling twelve-Month Cash Flow From operations

Twelve months ended 2011 2010

($ 000’s) except per unit amounts  Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 March 31 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30

 Royalties      $  36,720  $  36,498  $  35,954  $  36,660  $  36,630  $  36,967  $  37,215 
 Less:        
 Administration     1,667  1,944  1,990  1,834  1,771  978  851
 Management fee      6,747  6,632  6,527  6,719  6,713  6,924  6,975 
 Interest expense      3,042  3,025  2,972  2,880  2,900  2,990  3,087 

          25,264  24,897  24,465  25,227  25,246  26,075  26,302 
Cash flow from operations per share  $  1.97  $  1.94  $  1.91  $  1.97  $  1.97  $  2.04  $  2.05 
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Cash Flow From operations and its utilization

Years ended December 31,  
($ 000’s)    2011 2010

Royalties      $  36,720  $  36,630 
Less:   
 Administration       1,667  1,771 
 Management fee      6,747  6,713 
 Interest expense       3,042  2,900 

Cash flow from operations       25,264  25,246 

Less:   
 Dividends to shareholders       10,471  15,212 
 Interest on Exchangeable units       4,672  5,337 

Total dividends and interest       15,143  20,549 

Cash flow from operations less dividends and interest       10,121  4,697 
 Less Funding of acquisitions       6,062  6,415

Net change in the period     $  4,059  $  (1,718)

Cash flow from operations reconciled to cash flow from operating activities

Years ended December 31,  
($ 000’s)    2011 2010

Cash flow from operating activities     $  18,588  $  6,100 
Add (deduct):  
 Interest on Exchangeable units       4,672  5,337 
 Current non-cash income tax expense       4,183  – 
 Interest on Trust units       –  15,212 
 Changes in non-cash working capital items       (2,693)   (1,224)
 Interest expense       (7,714)   (23,449)
 Interest paid       8,228  23,270 

Cash flow from operations     $  25,264  $  25,246

From inception to date, the Company has used CFFO in excess of distributions/dividends to fund acquisitions and Exchangeable 
unit obligations.

Year ended December 31
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A summary of the main elements of the Company’s performance, which assists in the assessment of the sustainability of the Company’s 
cash distributions, is presented in the table above.

The Company’s payment of dividends to shareholders is fully funded by CFFO. The Company has consistently paid out cash in excess 
of net income to shareholders as a significant portion of the Company’s operating expenses is made up of the non-cash amortization of 
intangible assets, consisting of franchise agreements and trademarks. Management does not view the excess payment as an economic 
return of capital as these intangible assets are not expected to require a further cash outlay in the future; rather, the value of these 
assets to the Company lies in part with management’s ability to retain and renew the underlying franchise agreements and to ensure 
the ongoing integrity of the trademarks. The Company has not paid out all of the CFFO to shareholders as the cash generated in excess 
of these amounts, as summarized in the table below (see Supplemental Information – Cash Flow From Operations), has been used to 
fund the acquisition of franchise agreements, pay distributions to the Exchangeable unitholders/servicing of the Trust unit liability, fund 
the purchase of units under the normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) and meet future tax liabilities. It is management’s expectation, at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors, that for the foreseeable future, cash distributions to shareholders in the form of dividends will 
continue, and the remaining cash flow will be used to fund acquisitions and pay distributions to the Exchangeable unitholders.

acquisition of franchise agreements
Under the terms of the MSA, the Company is permitted to acquire franchise agreements, approved by independent directors of the 
Company, from the Manager on January 1 of each year. The purchase price is estimated at the time of purchase and finalized at a future 
date, in accordance with the terms of the MSA.

For Royal LePage acquisitions, the purchase price is based on the actual royalties generated under the agreements during the twelve-
month period ending on October 31 of the year of acquisition. Via Capitale acquisitions are subject to a three-year price determination 
period. In the first year, the initial estimate is adjusted in the manner described for Royal LePage acquisitions. In each of the subsequent 
two years, the purchase price is adjusted based on the average annual royalties generated under the agreements.

An initial payment representing 80% of the estimated purchase price is due upon acquisition of the franchise contracts, with the final 
obligation determined through an audit conducted annually to verify the royalty amounts used in all purchase price calculations. The final 
purchase obligation for Royal LePage contracts is determined and payable within one year of acquisition, while Via Capitale acquisitions 
are determined and payable two years after acquisition. Any changes to the original estimated obligation are recorded in the Company’s 
consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive earnings.

RoYal lePage FRaNChise agReeMeNts
On January 1, 2012, the Company acquired 20 new Royal LePage franchise agreements serviced by 145 REALTORS®, with an estimated 
annual royalty stream of $0.3 million. The agreements for these 12 locations were acquired in accordance with the terms of the MSA at 
an estimated purchase price of $1.9 million, with $1.5 million, representing 80% of the estimated obligation, to be paid from cash on hand 
in 2012 and the remainder to be paid a year later. 

Via CaPitale FRaNChise agReeMeNts
On January 1, 2012, the Company acquired five franchise agreements operating under the Via Capitale brand in the province of Quebec 
from the Company Manager for an estimated purchase price of $1.0 million. These agreements are represented by 72 REALTORS® 
operating from existing locations, with an estimated annual royalty stream of $0.2 million. For a summary of the Company’s acquisitions 
of franchise agreements, see Supplemental Information – Acquisitions.

Debt financing
On February 18, 2010, the Company completed the refinancing of its long-term debt of $53 million for a five-year term maturing on 
February 17, 2015. The refinancing is made up of a $32.7 million private debt placement with a number of Canadian institutional investors, 
with fixed interest of 5.809%, and a $20.3 million term facility with a Canadian financial institution, with interest available at a floating rate 
of prime plus 1.5%, payable quarterly, or at Banker’s Acceptance rates plus 3% with terms of up to six months.

The Company has a $2 million operating line provided by a single Canadian financial institution. As of the date of this MD&A, this 
operating line remains undrawn and in force.



2011 annual report 27

The covenants of the long-term debt prescribe that the Company must maintain a ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Senior Interest 
Expense at a minimum of 5.00 to 1 and a ratio of Senior Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA at a maximum of 2.25 to 1. Consolidated 
EBITDA is defined as earnings (loss) before tax, interest, impairment of intangible assets, amortization of intangible assets, interest on 
Exchangeable units, interest on Trust units, gain (loss) on fair value of Exchangeable units, gain (loss) on purchase obligation adjustment, 
and gain (loss) on fair value of Trust unit liability. 

Senior Indebtedness is defined as the Company’s long-term debt, disclosed under Note 10 of the consolidated statement of earnings, 
which is made up of $32,700 in private debt placement and $20,300 in term facilities. Senior Interest Expense includes interest expenses 
generated on the Company’s Senior Indebtedness.

The Company’s royalty revenues are affected by the seasonality of the Market, which typically has stronger second and third quarters, 
as summarized in the chart below. The seasonality of the Market is in turn mitigated throughout the year by the fixed-fee nature of the 
Company’s royalties and by the acquisition of franchise contracts at the beginning of the year and in the later part of the year by the 

19% – 2011 (18% – 2010) of our Royal LePage Agents who have capped out under the 1%/$1,300 per annum variable fee.

Market transactional dollar volume for the Year of $166.1 billion closed up 10% from December 31, 2010, driven by a 7% increase in 
selling price and a modest increase in home sale activity of 3%. For the three months ended December 31, 2011, transactional dollar 
volume was up 11% over the same period in 2010, driven by a 4% and 7% increase in selling price and home sale activity, respectively. 
The steady increase in selling price is largely driven by the consistent shortage of listings, resulting in competition among home buyers for 
the Year and Quarter, and low interest rates, which continue to draw home buyers into the Market. 

The other items of note on a year-over-year basis were provisions against the Company’s accounts receivable of $0.5 million, due to 
Market and financial difficulties experienced by a limited number of franchisees, and a non-cash impairment charge of $2.8 million 
against the Company’s franchise agreements and trademarks, as previously described, which resulted from the adoption of specific 
valuation methodologies on transition to IFRS.

A key performance indicator used by management to monitor Company performance is the rolling twelve-month CFFO per restricted 
voting share. As previously discussed, the CFFO per restricted voting share for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 was $1.97, 
which was unchanged from 2010. 
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fourth-Quarter Review

suMMaRY oF QuaRteRlY Results

Three months ended 2011 2010 

($ 000’s) except Agents, Sales  
Representatives and per share amounts  Dec. 31 sept. 30 June 30 March 31 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 March 31

Royalties    
 Fixed franchise fees    $ 4,700  $ 4,736  $ 4,761  $ 4,758  $ 4,710  $ 4,700  $ 4,695  $ 4,610 
 Variable franchise fees      1,430    2,531    2,560    1,697    1,269    2,203    2,990    1,783 
 Premium franchise fees      1,275    1,910    1,279    778    1,126    1,692    1,556    851 
 Other fee revenue and services    975    1,147    1,221    962    1,053    1,185    1,286    921 

        8,380    10,324    9,821    8,195    8,158    9,780    10,527    8,165 
Less:          
 Administration     768    270    361    268    1,045    316    205    205 
 Management fee     1,464    1,941    1,823    1,519    1,349    1,836    2,015    1,513 
 Interest expense     737    766    811    728    720    713    719    748 

Cash flow from operations     5,411    7,347    6,826    5,680    5,044    6,915    7,588    5,699 
 Interest on  
  Exchangeable units     1,168    1,168    1,168    1,168    1,833    1,168    1,168    1,168 
 Interest on Trust units     –    –    –    –    5,226    3,327    3,330    3,329 
 (Gain) loss on fair value  
  of Exchangeable units     1,131    (6,655)   (3,761)   2,030    5,724    2,895    (2,429)   4,226 
 (Gain) loss on fair value  
  of Trust unit liability     –    –    –    –    16,312    8,251    (6,924)   12,045 
 (Gain) loss on purchase  
  obligation adjustment     (31)   (113)   –    –    590    –    21    – 
 Other (income)     –    –    –    –    –    –    –    (101)
 Amortization of intangible assets    3,426    3,421    3,461    3,462    3,414    3,414    3,414    3,414 
 Impairment of intangible assets    2,435    383    –    –    –    –    –    – 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes    (2,718)   9,143    5,958    (980)   (28,055)   (12,140)   9,008    (18,382)
Current income tax expense   856    1,212    1,178    937    –    –    –    – 
Deferred income tax  
 (recovery) expense      (368)   (151)   (137)   (140)   1,113    –    –    27 

Net and comprehensive  
 earnings (loss)   $ (3,206) $ 8,082  $ 4,917  $ (1,777) $ (29,168) $ (12,140) $ 9,008  $ (18,409)

Basic earnings (loss) per share  $ (0.33) $ 0.85  $ 0.52  $ (0.19) $ –  $ –  $ –  $ – 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ (0.07) $ 0.20  $ 0.18  $ 0.11  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ – 

Cash flow from operations per share  $ 0.43  $ 0.57  $ 0.53  $ 0.44  $ 0.39  $ 0.54  $ 0.59  $ 0.44 

Number of Agents     14,079   14,273   14,342   14,425   14,255   14,270   14,236   14,199 

Number of fixed-fee-paying  
 Sales Representatives    682   719   718   724  752   748   762   771 

As summarized in the table above, during the Quarter, the Company generated CFFO of $5.4 million as compared to CFFO of $5.0 million 
for the same period in 2010. 
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the CoMPaNY NetwoRk
During the Quarter, the Company experienced a net decrease of 234 REALTORS®, while royalties of $8.4 million increased 2.7% from 
the same period in 2010. Both the overall Canadian Market and the GTA Market increased during this period, with the overall Canadian 
Market increasing by 11% on a 4% increase in selling price, and a 7% increase in units sold, compared to the same period in 2010. The 
increase experienced in the Canadian Market during the Quarter was largely skewed by the fall-off of Market activity in the second half 
of 2010 as home buyers pushed their purchases to the first half of 2010 to avoid the introduction of tighter mortgage-lending rules, the 
introduction of the HST and increased borrowing costs. 

Combined, fixed franchise fees, variable franchise fees and premium franchise fees represented 88% of royalties for the Quarter, 
compared to 87% for the same period in 2010.

Fixed franchise fees for the Quarter were flat against the same period in 2010. 

Variable franchise fees for the Quarter increased 12.7% from the same period in 2010, against a Market increase of 19% due primarily to 
the capping nature of the Company’s variable fee structure and the net attrition of 247 Agents experienced during the Year. The capping 
of the 1% variable fee generated by Agents at $1,300 per annum typically occurs in the latter half of the Year, and the cumulative effect of 
Agents with sales above the capped level will cause the Market change to have a more pronounced impact on variable franchise fees in a 
declining Market.

Premium franchise fees for the Quarter increased by 13.2%, compared to the same period in 2010, which was in line with the 
approximate 19% Market increase experienced in the Quarter, compared to the same period in 2010.

other fees and services consist of APEC fees, technology fees and other fees and revenue, accounting for approximately 12%  
(13% – 2010) of the Company’s royalties for the Quarter, which were at the same level for the same period in 2010.

administration expenses for the Quarter were down $0.3 million due primarily to costs related to the conversion of the Company to a 
corporate structure in 2010 of $0.7 million. Included in administration expenses for the Quarter was a $0.5 million provision against the 
Company’s accounts receivable due to a limited number of franchisees experiencing market and financial difficulties.

interest expense for the Quarter of $0.7 million was consistent with the same period in 2010.

Management fee expense of $1.5 million for the Quarter was in line with the Company’s royalties. In accordance with the MSA, 
management fees are calculated as 30% of net royalty fees earned (defined as distributable cash in the MSA) from the Via Capitale 
franchise agreements and 20% of the balance of royalties less administration and interest expenses.

amortization of intangible assets of $3.4 million was consistent with the same period in 2010 as the additional amortization associated 
with the franchise agreements acquired on January 1, 2010 was more than offset by the reduction in amortization resulting from the 
franchise agreements purchased at the inception of the Fund, which are now fully amortized.

otheR iNCoMe
Other income, which represents the change in the fair value of the Company’s interest rate swap, was $nil for the Quarter as the swap 
was terminated upon the refinancing of the Company’s debt in February 2011.

income tax expense of $0.9 million was recorded in the Quarter, reflecting a tax rate of 28.25% on taxable income.

Cash flow from operations for the Quarter totalled $5.4 million, up $0.4 million, or 7.3%, from the same period in 2010, due primarily 
to the decrease in costs associated with the conversion of the Company to a corporate structure of $0.7 million, partially offset by 
$0.5 million in provisions against the Company’s accounts receivable.
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liquidity
Changes in the Company’s net working capital are primarily driven by cash flow generated from operations, the recording of obligations 
arising from the purchase of franchise agreements and the settlement of these obligations and payment of dividends and interest.

During the Year, the Company used cash flow generated from operating activities of $18.6 million and cash on hand to meet $6.1 million 
of acquisition obligations and $15.0 million of dividend and distribution requirements. A summary of the Company’s working capital 
position is as follows:

working Capital 

Year ended   Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Change Change 
($ 000’s)   2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 in quarter in year

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 5,593  $ 3,396  $ 1,469  $ 1,573  $ 5,672  $ 2,197  $ (79)
Accounts receivable and other    4,043    4,450    5,139    3,982    3,158    (407)   885 
Prepaid expenses      261    189    234    270    267    72    (6)

        $ 9,897  $ 8,035  $ 6,842  $ 5,825  $ 9,097  $ 1,862  $ 800 

Current liabilities       
Accounts payable and  
 accrued liabilities    $ 1,299  $ 1,100  $ 1,041  $ 1,506  $ 1,910  $ 199  $ (611)
Purchase obligation – current portion    663    706    3,236    4,832    3,282    (43)   (2,619)
Current income tax liability      4,183    3,327    2,115    937    –    856    4,183 
Interest payable to  
 Exchangeable unitholders     389    389    389    389    1,055    –    (666)
Dividends payable to shareholders     872    873    873    873    3,006    (1)   (2,134)

          7,406    6,395    7,654    8,537    9,253    1,011    (1,847)

Net working capital    $ 2,491  $ 1,640  $ (812) $ (2,712) $ (156) $ 851  $ 2,647 

capital Resources
The existing capital resources that the Company can draw upon consist of a $2 million operating line, which is undrawn as at the date of 
this MD&A.

Other capital resources include funds generated from operations, debt servicing, dividend and Exchangeable units requirements and 
financing for the acquisition of franchise contracts. In addition, during 2011, the Company’s cash flow benefited from the deferral of tax 
payments during its first year as a Corporation as the related tax payments were not due until February 29, 2012.

off–Balance sheet arrangements
The Company has no off–balance sheet arrangements.

transactions with Related Parties
As at the date of this MD&A, the Company’s interests are ultimately controlled approximately 74% by the public and 26% by BAM. BAM 
derived its ownership interest in the Company through the sale of its interest in certain assets to the Company at inception. These assets 
included the trademarks and franchise agreements related to the business of its Royal LePage residential resale real estate brokerage 
franchise operations.
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BAM operates 17 corporately owned residential resale real estate brokerage locations in the GTA, serviced by over 1,000 Agents. Of 
these operations, 16 operate under three franchise agreements under the $100/1% option to August 2023, with an additional premium 
franchise fee ranging from 1% to 5% of the location’s gross commission income to August 2018. The remaining location, which was 
opened during the third quarter of 2009, was included in the Company’s acquisition of franchise contracts on January 1, 2010.

The management of the Company and its underlying structure is provided under an MSA by the Manager, which is a company controlled 
by the Exchangeable unitholders. The MSA provides for an initial term, expiring on August 6, 2013, and is automatically renewable for 
successive ten-year terms subject to certain performance criteria and/or other notification requirements. The MSA details the Manager’s 
responsibilities and provides for a monthly fee, payable in arrears, of 20% of cash otherwise distributable from Royal LePage agreements 
and 30% in respect of cash otherwise distributable from Via Capitale franchise agreements.

On January 1 of each year, the Company may, upon approval by the Board of Directors and criteria detailed in the MSA, purchase Royal 
LePage franchises acquired by the Manager up to or on or about October 31 of the previous year. The acquisition amount is determined 
in accordance with a formula detailed in the MSA. The acquisition costs may be satisfied by way of cash or shares of the Company and are 
paid 80% on acquisition and the remaining 20% a year later, when the actual franchise fees are audited and the acquisition calculations 
are adjusted accordingly.

On January 1 of each year, the Company may, upon approval by the Independent Directors and criteria established by the Board of 
Directors, purchase Via Capitale franchises acquired by the Manager or its affiliates up to or on or about October 31 of the previous year. 
The acquisition costs may be satisfied by way of cash or shares of the Company. Modification to the MSA relating to the Via Capitale 
acquisition costs and management fees are as follows:

(a)  the discount factor of 7.5%, which is applied to the royalties upon which the purchase price is based, was increased to 10%, thereby 
reducing the purchase price;

(b)  the final purchase price is to be calculated based on the average annual royalties earned from Via Capitale franchise agreements over 
three years (instead of one year);

(c)  the Partnership will pay a management fee equal to 30% of net royalties (defined as distributable cash in the MSA), received from 
the Via Capitale franchise agreements, instead of 20%. The increase in the management fee resulted in a direct and proportional 
decrease in the purchase price paid by the Partnership as the purchase price is calculated based on royalties earned from the 
Via Capitale franchise agreements net of the management fee.

The related party transactions entered into by the Company were transacted at contracted rates or at exchange amounts approximating 
fair market value. A summary of these amounts in thousands of dollars follows:

RelateD PaRtY tRaNsaCtioNs

Years ended December 31,    2011  2010

a) Royalties    
  Fixed, variable and other franchise fees     $ 2,543  $ 2,587 
 Premium franchise fees     $ 4,477  $ 4,461 
b) Expenses  
 Management fees     $ 6,747  $ 6,713 
 Insurance and other     $ 109  $ 109 
 Interest on purchase obligations     $ 117  $ – 
c) Interest paid  
 Interest paid to Exchangeable unitholders     $ 5,338  $ 4,805 
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     December 31, December 31, January 1, 
As at    2011 2010 2010

d) Accounts receivable    
  Franchise fees receivable and other   $ 1,142  $ 908  $ 585 
e) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   
 Management fees   $ 491  $ 489  $ 1,656 
 Interest on purchase obligations   $ 26  $ –  $ – 
 Administrative shared service liability   $ 120  $ –  $ – 
f) Interest expense payable to Exchangeable unitholders   $ 389  $ 1,055  $ 521 
g) Purchase obligation payable   $ 832  $ 3,563  $ 4,143 

Effective January 1, 2012, the Company acquired 20 Royal LePage franchise agreements and five Via Capitale franchise agreements 
for an estimated purchase price of $1.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively, with 80%, or $2.3 million, of the purchase price due in the 
first quarter (see Acquisition of Franchise Agreements for further information). The Company expects to utilize cash generated from 
operations later in 2012 to satisfy these obligations. In the interim, the Company accrues interest on the remaining purchase obligation at 
a rate of prime.

Basis of Presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
tRaNsitioN to iFRs
During the first quarter of 2011, the basis of presentation of the Company’s financial statements was changed from reporting under 
CGAAP to IFRS. Under IFRS, January 1, 2010 is considered the transition date, at which point the Company recognized the cumulative 
impact on previous periods of preparing our financial statements as if they had always been reported under IFRS. Under the IFRS 
reporting requirements, the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2011, and all comparative information, 
are prepared and presented on an IFRS basis. In addition, a comparative consolidated balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 has been 
prepared and presented to capture the cumulative impact of IFRS on pre-2010 periods.

iMPaCt oF iFRs oN CoNVeRsioN to a CoRPoRate stRuCtuRe
During 2010, the Company operated as an Income Trust. Within the Income Trust structure, the Company’s Partnership acquires the 
franchise agreements, trademarks and other associated assets; receives the royalties from these agreements; and distributes the net 
cash generated to the Fund’s unitholders through the Fund structure and directly to the NCI through its interest in the Partnership. 
Under the Income Trust arrangement, the Company is obligated to distribute its partnership earnings (the “Payment Obligation”) to 
Trust unitholders and the NCI in order to minimize the income tax effect of not making such a distribution. Under these arrangements, 
there are two key considerations: (i) the language in the relevant agreements provided no discretion for the trustees/partners to avoid 
distributions; and (ii) the Company prior to the Conversion was an open-ended trust, and as such the Trust units were “puttable” to the 
Company, and as such the Class B LP units were exchangeable into a “puttable” instrument, thereby creating a contractual obligation of 
the Trust (collectively the “Payment Option”). Under IFRS, the Payment Obligation results in the characterization of the Trust unitholders’ 
and the NCI’s respective interests as a debt obligation. The fair value of the debt obligation is determined at each reporting date at the 
underlying closing unit/share price, with the resultant change in value being recorded through the consolidated statement of earnings, 
while distributions/dividends declared are reported as interest expense.

With the Conversion of the Fund to a corporate structure at the end of 2010, the Fund’s unitholders exchanged their Fund units for 
restricted voting shares of the Company, which do not have a Payment Obligation, while the NCI retained its interests at the Partnership 
level. Consequently, as a result of these arrangements, under IFRS, in the comparative 2010 period up to the Conversion, the Trust 
unitholders’ and the NCI’s respective interests are presented as a debt obligation, with the commensurate impact on the consolidated 
balance sheet and statement of earnings described above, while in 2011, the restricted voting interests are presented within 
shareholders’ equity and dividends declared as a reduction of shareholders’ equity.
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iMPaCt oF tRaNsitioN to iFRs
When the Fund converted to a corporate structure on December 31, 2010, the cumulative impact of IFRS on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements was a $23.0 million reduction in shareholders’ equity, resulting in shareholders’ equity of $12.0 million. The largest 
driver of this result was the characterization of the NCI as debt, with the resultant valuation of the debt at the underlying share price 
of the NCI’s interests and the recording of the changes in the debt valuation in the consolidated statement of earnings and the NCI’s 
distributions as interest expense.

Provided in the table below is a summary of the cumulative impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s shareholders’ equity as at 
January 1, 2010 and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. A summary-level discussion of these adjustments is presented 
below, while a more detailed analysis and discussion can be found later in this MD&A and in Note 3 of our audited consolidated financial 
statements for 2011.

Continuity of shareholders’ equity

As at    December 31, January 1,  
$ millions  2010 2010 Difference

Balance under CGAAP   $ 35.0  $ 44.0  $ (9.0)
Adjustments:     
 Trust unit liability     –   (110.4)  110.4
 NCI     (34.8)  (21.6)  (13.2)
 Intangible assets    7.1  4.9  2.2
 Deferred taxes    4.7  5.8  (1.1)

Balance under iFRs   $ 12.0  $ (77.3) $ 89.3

tRaNsitioN to iFRs – CuMulatiVe iMPaCt oN shaReholDeRs’ eQuitY
As summarized in the table above, the cumulative impact of the transition to IFRS as at January 1, 2010 was a $121.3 million 
(December 31, 2010 – $23 million) decrease in shareholders’ equity, with $110.4 million of the decrease being attributed to classification 
of Trust units under shareholders’ equity to a Trust unit liability and revaluation of this liability to fair value. On December 31, 2010, as 
previously discussed, the Trust unit liability no longer exists as a result of the exchange of the underlying Fund units for restricted voting 
shares of the Company. However, as the comparative 2010 financial statements for the current 2011 reporting year are prepared on an 
IFRS basis, the $110.4 million decrease in equity attributed to the Trust unit liability is reported in the comparative period of 2010. The 
remaining $10.9 million cumulative charge to opening retained earnings is made up of the following:

•	 A $21.6 million reduction in the NCI due to the fair value of Exchangeable units as at January 1, 2010. The 3,327,667 convertible 
Class B LP units were fair-valued at $11.64 per unit, partially offset by a

 i)  $4.9 million net increase in intangible assets attributed to a $16.9 million reduction in amortization of intangibles partially offset 
by an impairment charge of $5.6 million and changes in purchase obligations recognized through gains or losses in earnings of 
$6.4 million, and a

 ii)  $5.8 million increase in future income tax assets as a result of the elimination of the tax accounting for certain CGAAP book-to-tax 
differences under IFRS.

The $4.9 million cumulative CGAAP to IFRS increase in intangible assets as at January 1, 2010 is made up of the following:

•	 A $4.5 million reduction in the gross book value of intangible assets as a result of the elimination of the gross-up of intangible assets for 
the income tax impact of the acquisition of the Via Capitale assets in 2008;

•	 A $3.4 million impairment charge to intangible assets as a result of the different basis used to determine impairment under IFRS (see 
Transition to IFRS – Ongoing Impact on the Consolidated Statement of Earnings);

•	 A $2.3 million reduction in intangible assets as the Company took the opportunity with the transition to IFRS to write off balances 
associated with terminated contracts from inception to December 31, 2009, which on an annual basis were considered immaterial; and

•	 A $2.5 million reduction in the gross book value of intangible assets due to the elimination of deposit accounting for the Company’s 
acquisition of franchise contracts, which gives rise to the following differences:
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 i)  the acquisition of franchise contracts is recorded at their estimated fair value at the time of purchase, whereas under CGAAP, the 
intangible asset is recognized as the purchase obligation is effectively “earned” (see Transition to IFRS – Ongoing Impact on the 
Consolidated Statement of Earnings); and

 ii)  subsequent changes in the estimated Purchase Obligation are recorded in the Company’s consolidated statement of earnings, 
whereas under CGAAP, these changes are recorded against the intangible asset.

The reductions in intangible assets noted above were offset by a cumulative $17.6 million decrease in amortization as a result of the 
combination of the reduction in intangible assets created by the adjustments noted above and a change in the amortization period of 
franchise agreements to reflect an estimated useful life, which includes the agreement term plus one renewal period.

tRaNsitioN to iFRs – oNgoiNg iMPaCt oN the CoNsoliDateD stateMeNt oF eaRNiNgs
From a consolidated statement of earnings perspective, IFRS as compared to CGAAP has resulted in the following six differences of 
note, which are expected to continue in the future under IFRS:

1.  Amortization expense has decreased as a result of a number of IFRS transition adjustments, which have reduced the net book value of 
intangibles and the associated amortization (see 5 and 6 below);

2. Interest costs have increased under IFRS as distributions paid to Exchangeable unitholders are classified as interest expense;

3.  Under IFRS, the Exchangeable unitholders’ proportionate share of net income is no longer recorded due to its classification as a 
debt obligation;

4.  Under IFRS, the Exchangeable units are valued at the closing price of the Company’s shares at each reporting date, with the change in 
value between reporting periods being recorded through the consolidated statement of earnings;

5.  Under IFRS, the Company’s franchise contracts are reviewed for impairment by comparing the net book value (“NBV”) of the contracts 
against the recoverable amount. In calculating the discounted future cash flows (“DCF”) for each franchisee, management performed 
a net present value of annuity calculation using actual cash flow received in 2011, the Company’s pre-tax weighted average cost of 
capital (“WACC”) and the life of the agreements plus one renewal term as the assumptions. Where the franchise contract DCF is less 
than its NBV, the difference is recognized as an impairment loss through the consolidated statement of earnings. Under CGAAP, the 
undiscounted value of the estimated franchise fees was compared to the respective NBV on a contract-by-contract basis, and then, 
only in cases where the NBV exceeded the undiscounted value was the DCF valuation undertaken; and last

6.  Under IFRS, subsequent adjustments to the purchase price of franchise contracts as a result of the earn-out provisions of the 
purchase agreement are recorded through the consolidated statement of earnings, whereas under CGAAP, such adjustments were 
recorded as changes to intangible assets.

On a quarterly basis, the mark-to-market adjustment of the Exchangeable unitholders noted in 3. above and the recording of 
franchise contract obligations noted in 6. above are expected to add volatility to the Company’s consolidated statement of earnings, 
while the requirement to assess impairment of the Company’s intangible assets on a DCF basis is expected to be assessed at each 
reporting period.

It is also important to note that under IFRS, impairment losses may be reversed when there has been a subsequent increase in the 
recoverable amount as a result of the conditions causing the impairment reversing themselves. In this event, the carrying value of 
the intangible asset or cash-generating unit is increased to its revised recoverable amount, limited to the original carrying value less 
amortization as if no impairment had been recognized for prior periods. Impairment reversals are recognized as income in the period 
of reversal.

iFRs aND PeRFoRMaNCe MoNitoRiNg
Since the inception of the Company as a Fund, one of the key performance indicators (“KPI”) used by management to assess the 
Company’s performance is the rolling twelve-month distributable cash per unit. This KPI represents the net cash generated from the 
Company’s operations, which is available to distribute to its unitholders and to service its capital structure and franchise contract 
acquisition obligations. With the Conversion effective December 31, 2010 and the transition to IFRS effective January 1, 2011, the 
comparable distributable cash KPI is CFFO, which is derived as net income or loss with the add-back of income taxes, adjustments 
to franchise contract purchase price obligations, amortization of intangible assets, the fair value and interest charges attributable to 
Exchangeable units and intangible asset impairment charges.
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CoNVeRsioN to a CoRPoRatioN
As previously announced and approved by the Company’s shareholders, effective December 31, 2010, the Fund was converted to 
a corporate structure through the introduction of the Company, which owns the previous Fund structure. Shareholders exchanged 
their units in the Fund for restricted voting shares of the Company. The changes of note as a result of becoming a corporation are the 
recording of payments to shareholders as dividends instead of distributions, the recording of a current tax liability for taxes due at the 
Company level and the declaration of the Exchangeable unitholders’ distributions at the pre-tax level of $1.40 per unit per annum versus 
$1.10 per unit for public shareholders.

critical accounting estimates
Substantially all of the Company’s activities are based on cash transactions, with revenue and expenditures based on contracted terms. 
The operating activities not based on contractual terms include the Company’s administration expenses, allocation of the intangible 
assets between franchise agreements and trademarks and their related amortization periods. The Company’s administration expenses of 
approximately $1.1 million per annum relate to the Company’s public reporting, regulatory and insurance costs.

The allocation of the Company’s intangible assets among their various classifications is subject to management estimates. The Company’s 
intangible assets are continuously monitored to ensure that there is no impairment in the carrying value of these assets. A change in the 
carrying value would affect the net earnings of the Company but would have no direct cash flow implications.

In assessing the fair value of franchise agreements upon acquisition, impairment of intangible assets and measurement of deferred taxes, 
management estimates future cash flows by relying on external information and observable conditions where possible, supplemented by 
internal analysis.

financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, purchase obligation, 
Exchangeable units, interest payable to Exchangeable unitholders, a $32.7 million private debt placement, and a $20.3 million term facility.

The Company is exposed to credit risk with respect to accounts receivable to the extent that any franchisees are unable to pay their fees. 
The Company’s credit risk is limited to the recorded amount of accounts receivable. Management reviews the financial position of all 
franchisees during the application process and closely monitors outstanding accounts receivable on an ongoing basis.

On February 18, 2010, the Partnership completed the refinancing of its long-term debt of $53 million for a five-year term maturing on 
February 17, 2015. The refinancing consists of a $32.7 million private debt placement with a number of Canadian institutional investors, 
with fixed interest of 5.809%, and a $20.3 million term facility with a Canadian financial institution, with interest available at a floating rate 
of prime plus 1.5%, payable quarterly, or at Banker’s Acceptance rates plus 3%, with terms of up to six months.

Disclosure controls and internal controls
As a public entity, we take every step necessary to ensure that material information regarding our reports filed or submitted under 
securities legislation fairly presents the financial information of the Company. Responsibility for this resides with management, including 
the President and Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer. Management is responsible for establishing, maintaining and evaluating 
disclosure controls and procedures, as well as internal control over financial reporting.

DisClosuRe CoNtRols aND PRoCeDuRes (“DC&P”)
The evaluation of the effectiveness of DC&P, as defined in National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosures in Issuers’ Annual and 
Interim Filings, was performed under the supervision of the President and Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer. They conclude 
that these DC&P were adequate and effective as at December 31, 2011. The Company’s management can therefore provide reasonable 
assurance that it receives material information relating to the Company in a timely manner so that it can provide investors with complete 
and reliable information.



ManageMent’s Discussion anD analysis  
of Results anD financial conDition

Brookfield real estate services inc.36

iNteRNal CoNtRol oVeR FiNaNCial RePoRtiNg (“iCFR”)
Management has designed ICFR to provide reasonable assurance that our financial reporting is reliable and that our consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The design and effectiveness of ICFR were evaluated as defined in 
National Instrument 52-109 under the supervision of the President and Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer. Based on the 
evaluations, they conclude that ICFR is adequate and effective to provide such assurance as at December 31, 2011.

outstanding Restricted Voting shares
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of restricted voting shares, an unlimited number of preferred shares and one 
special voting share. As at December 31, 2010, 9,483,850 restricted voting shares were issued in exchange for 9,483,850 Trust units 
outstanding, and one special voting share was issued in exchange for all special Fund units outstanding prior to the Conversion. These 
restricted voting shares and special voting shares remain unchanged at December 31, 2011.

The restricted voting shares were issued to replace the Trust units outstanding prior to the Conversion. Each restricted voting share 
represents a proportionate voting right in the Company, and holders of the Company’s restricted voting shares are entitled to dividends 
declared and distributed by the Company.

The special voting share was issued to replace all of the special Fund units outstanding prior to the Conversion, which represent the 
proportionate voting rights of Exchangeable units in the Company and are redeemable by the holder at $0.01 per share; they are not 
entitled to dividends declared by the Company. No additional restricted voting shares were issued during the Quarter.

company structure
The Company is governed by a Board of Directors (the “Board”) and consists of a Corporation on a Trust-on-Trust (Holding Trust) 
structure that controls a general partner and Limited Partnership (“LP”). The Trust-on-Trust structure is a holdover from the Company’s 
initial Income Trust structure (see Recent Developments).

Substantially all Company activity is transacted through the LP, which in turn flows distributions to public shareholders through the Trust 
structure to the Corporation and to the Exchangeable units through the LP structure. Through this structure, public shareholders hold a 
74% interest in the economics of the Company’s underlying assets, and the remaining non-controlling interests are held by subsidiaries 
of BAM.

change in accounting Policies 
aCCouNtiNg ChaNges – FutuRe
The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) has issued the following new accounting standards:

iFRs 9 – Financial Instruments (“iFRs 9”)
IFRS 9 is the first phase of the IASB’s three-phase project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It is 
applicable to financial assets and requires classification and measurement in either the amortized cost or the fair value category. IFRS 9 
is applied prospectively, with transitional arrangements depending on the date of application. The Standard is not applicable until annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact 
of adopting IFRS 9.

iFRs 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“iFRs 10”)
IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation requirements in SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements. The Standard identifies the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should 
be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company and provides additional guidance to assist in the 
determination of control where this is difficult to assess. The Standard is not applicable until annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 10.
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iFRs 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“iFRs 12”)
IFRS 12 is a new and comprehensive Standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The Standard is not applicable until annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of 
adopting IFRS 12.

iFRs 13 – Fair Value Measurement (“iFRs 13”)
IFRS 13 provides new guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for IFRS. The Standard is not applicable until 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the 
impact of adopting IFRS 13.

Risk factors
Risks related to the residential resale real estate brokerage industry and the business of the Partnership and the Company are outlined in 
the Fund’s Annual Information Form, which is available at www.sedar.com and on the Fund’s website at www.brookfieldresinc.com under 
Investor Relations/Financial Reports. Additional discussion regarding these risks as appropriate is provided in this MD&A.

Market outlook
On a year-over-year basis, price appreciation and housing sales activity are expected to modestly increase during 2012. While there 
appears to have been some overshooting in home prices in select markets, the pace of appreciation is slowing in regions like the 
Greater Vancouver Area. The positive impact of a gradually improving domestic and US economy, and a gentle upward pressure on 
wages and salaries, should mitigate the natural cyclical correction that often follows a period of strong price appreciation. Our outlook is 
based in part upon the expectation that low interest rates will continue to attract a diverse group of home buyers and encourage move-
up demand. 

forward-looking statements
This MD&A and other content of this Financial Review report contain forward-looking information and other “forward-looking statements”. 
The words such as “should”, “will”, “continue”, “plan”, “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate” and other expressions, which 
are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and which do not relate to historical matters, identify forward-looking statements. 
Reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to differ materially from anticipated future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking statements include a change in general economic conditions; interest rates; 
consumer confidence; the level of residential resale transaction; the average rate of commissions charged; competition from other 
traditional real estate brokers or from discount and/or Internet-based real estate alternatives; the availability of acquisition opportunities 
and/or the closing of existing real estate offices; other developments in the residential real estate brokerage industry or the Fund that 
reduce the number of and/or royalty revenue from the Company’s REALTORS®; our ability to maintain brand equity through the use 
of trademarks; the availability of equity and debt financing; a change in tax provisions; and other risks detailed in the Fund’s Annual 
Information Form, which is filed with securities commissions and posted on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, 
except as required by law.
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supplemental information – net earnings and cash flow from operations for the Period

  
Three months ended  March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, 
($ 000’s, unaudited)   2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

Royalties   $ 8,165  $ 10,527  $ 9,780  $ 8,158  $ 8,195   9,821 $ 10,324  $ 8,380 
Less:         
 Administration     205    205    316    1,045    268    361    270    768 
 Management fee     1,513    2,015    1,836    1,349    1,519    1,823    1,941    1,464 
 Interest expense     748    719    713    720    728    811    766    737 
Cash flow from operations      5,699    7,588    6,915    5,044    5,680    6,826    7,347    5,411 
 Interest on Exchangeable units    1,168    1,168    1,168    1,833    1,168    1,168    1,168    1,168 
 Interest on Trust units     3,329    3,330    3,327    5,226    –    –    –    – 
 (Gain) loss on fair value of  
  Exchangeable units     4,226    (2,429)   2,895    5,724    2,030    (3,761)   (6,655)   1,131 
 (Gain) loss on fair value of  
  Trust unit liability     12,045    (6,924)   8,251    16,312    –    –    –    – 
 (Gain) loss on purchase  
  obligation adjustment     –    21    –    590    –    –    (113)   (31)
 Other (income) loss     (101)   –    –    –    –    –    –    – 
 Amortization of  
  intangible assets     3,414    3,414    3,414    3,414    3,462    3,461    3,421    3,426 

 Impairment of intangible assets    –    –    –    –    –    –    383    2,435 
Earnings (loss) before taxes     (18,382)   9,008    (12,140)   (28,055)   (980)   5,958    9,143    (2,718)
 Current income tax expense    –  –  –  –   (937)   (1,178)   (1,212)   (856)
 Deferred income tax  
  recovery (expense)      (27)   –    –    (1,113)   140    137    151    368 
Net and comprehensive  
 earnings (loss) for the period    (18,409)   9,008    (12,140)   (29,168)   (1,777)   4,917    8,082    (3,206)
Add:
 Amortization of intangible assets    3,414    3,414    3,414    3,414    3,462    3,461    3,421    3,426 
 Impairment of intangible assets   –  –  –  –  –  –   383    2,435 
 Non-cash other (income) loss    (101)   –    –    –    –    –    –    – 
 Current income tax expense   –  –  –  –   937    1,178    1,212   856 
 Deferred income tax  
  (recovery) expense     27    –    –    1,113    (140)   (137)   (151)   (368)
 Interest on Exchangeable units    1,168    1,168    1,168    1,833    1,168    1,168    1,168    1,168 
 Interest on Trust units     3,329    3,330    3,327    5,226    –    –    –    – 
 (Gain) loss on fair value  
  of Exchangeable units     4,226    (2,429)   2,895    5,724    2,030    (3,761)   (6,655)   1,131 
 (Gain) loss on fair value  
  of Trust unit liability     12,045    (6,924)   8,251    16,312    –    –    –    – 
 (Gain) loss on purchase  
  obligation adjustment     –    21    –    590    –    –    (113)   (31)
Cash flow from operations     5,699    7,588    6,915    5,044    5,680    6,826    7,347    5,411 
Less change in:
  Unutilized cash      (1,202)   (3,090)   (2,418)   2,013    (1,894)   (3,040)   (3,561)   (1,625)
Cash required for dividends   $ 4,497  $ 4,498  $ 4,497  $ 7,057  $ 3,786  $ 3,786  $ 3,786  $ 3,786 
Cash flow from operations available to:         
 Public shareholders   $ 3,329  $ 3,330  $ 3,329  $ 5,224  $ 2,618  $ 2,618  $ 2,618  $ 2,618 
 Exchangeable unitholders    1,168    1,168    1,168    1,833    1,168    1,168    1,168    1,168 

      $ 4,497  $ 4,498  $ 4,497  $ 7,057  $ 3,786  $ 3,786  $ 3,786  $ 3,786 

Dividends to public  
 shareholders   $ 3,329  $ 3,330  $ 3,329  $ 5,224  $ 2,618  $ 2,618  $ 2,618  $ 2,618
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supplemental information – selected financial and operating information

Three months ended Dec. 31,  March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31,  June 30,  Sept. 30, Dec. 31, 
($000’s, unaudited) 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

Revenue

 Fixed franchise fees  $ 4,471  $ 4,610  $ 4,695  $ 4,700  $ 4,710  $ 4,758  $ 4,761  $ 4,736  $ 4,700 
 Variable franchise fees   1,631   1,783    2,990    2,203    1,269    1,697    2,560    2,531    1,430 

 Premium franchise fees   1,341   851   1,556    1,692    1,126    778    1,279    1,910    1,275 
 Other fee revenue  
  and services   1,052   921    1,286    1,185    1,053    962    1,221    1,147    975 

    $ 8,495  $ 8,165  $ 10,527  $ 9,780  $ 8,158  $ 8,195  $ 9,821  $ 10,324  $ 8,380 

% Revenue by region         
 British Columbia  12  12  11  11  11  11  11  10  10

 Prairies  9  10  9  9  9  9  9  9  9

 Ontario  56  56  57  58  57  57  57  59  59

 Quebec  20  19  20  19  20  20  20  19  19

 Maritimes  3  3  3  3  3  3  3  3  3

     100  100  100  100  100  100  100  100  100

 
Three months ended Dec. 31, March 31,  June 30,  Sept. 30, Dec. 31,  March 31,  June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, 
Changes during the period 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

 Number of REALTORS®  64  639   25   27   (14)  141   (88)  (66)  (234)

 Number of Agents   51  579   37   34   (15)  170   (83)  (69)  (194)

 Number of fixed-fee-paying  
  Sales Representatives  8  64   (9)  (14)  4   (28)  (6)  1   (37) 

 Number of locations   (5)  18   1   (3)  (5)  7   (2)  (7)  (2)

 Number of franchise  
  agreements  (2)  20   (1)  (1)  0   27   (2)  (2)  (1) 

at end of period 

 Number of REALTORS®  14,631  15,270   15,295   15,322   15,308   15,449   15,361   15,295   15,061 
 Number of Agents   13,620  14,199   14,236   14,270   14,255   14,425   14,342   14,273   14,079 

 Number of  
  fixed-fee-paying  
  Sales Representatives  707  771   762   748   752   724  718   719   682 

 Number of locations   647  665   666   663   658   665  663   656   654 

 Number of franchise  
  agreements  349  369   368   367   367   394  392   390   389 
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supplemental information – Distributions/Dividends History

     Dividends Declared per Unit/Share

Month 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

January   $ 0.0917  $ 0.0917  $ 0.0958 $ 0.1000 $ 0.1040 $ 0.1170  $ 0.1170  $ 0.0920

February    0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000  0.1040   0.1170  0.1170  0.0920

March     0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000  0.1040  0.1170   0.1170  0.0920

April      0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000  0.1040  0.1170   0.1170  0.0920

May      0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000  0.1040   0.1170  0.1170  0.0920

June     0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000  0.1040   0.1170  0.1170  0.0920

July      0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000  0.1040  0.1170   0.1170  0.0920

August     0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000   0.1170  0.1170  0.1170  0.0920

September $ 0.17891  0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000   0.1170  0.1170  0.1170  0.0920

October  0.0917   0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000  0.1170  0.1170  0.1170  0.0920

November  0.0917   0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000   0.1170  0.1170  0.1170  0.0920

December  0.0917   0.0917   0.0917   0.0958   0.1000   0.1170  0.1570  0.3170  0.0920

    $ 0.45  $ 1.10 $ 1.10 $ 1.15 $ 1.20 $ 1.31 $ 1.44 $ 1.60 $ 1.10 

1 Based on a 55-day period.

supplemental information – share and exchangeable unit Performance

    March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, 
Three months ended  2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

Trading price range of units (TSX: “BRE”)        
 High    $ 13.45  $ 13.90  $ 13.40  $ 15.50  $ 16.49  $ 15.67  $ 14.50  $ 13.87 
 Low    $ 12.31  $ 11.99  $ 11.67  $ 12.72  $ 14.40  $ 12.85  $ 12.00  $ 11.40 
 Close   $ 12.91  $ 12.18  $ 13.05  $ 14.77  $ 15.38  $ 14.25  $ 12.25  $ 12.59 

Average daily volume   24,796  11,022  7,186  13,564   12,816   8,748  7,987  10,215

Number of units  
 outstanding at  
 period end    9,483,850  9,483,850  9,483,850  9,483,850  9,483,850  9,483,850  9,483,850  9,483,850

Net enterprise value at  
 period end (thousands)        
 Market capitalization  $ 165,397  $ 156,044  $ 167,190  $ 189,226  $ 197,041  $ 182,564  $ 156,941  $ 161,297 
 Long-term debt    52,197    52,218    52,256    52,277    52,314    52,352    52,390    52,429 
Less:        
 Cash on hand    402    1,063    4,552    5,672    1,573    1,469    3,396    5,593 

      $ 217,192  $ 207,199  $ 214,894  $ 235,831  $ 247,782  $ 233,447  $ 205,935  $ 208,133 
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supplemental information – canadian Residential Real estate Market

    Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, 
Three months ended 2009 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

Canada        

Transactional dollar  
 volume1 $ 44,281  $ 36,023  $ 37,355  $ 49,352  $ 33,962  $ 30,857  $ 37,694  $ 52,880  $ 41,388  $ 34,093 

Average selling price $ 327,769  $ 338,940  $ 336,500  $ 345,015  $ 328,925  $ 344,349  $ 363,258  $ 374,269  $ 354,070  $ 357,528 
Number of units sold   135,098    106,281    111,011    143,042    103,252    89,610    103,767    141,288    116,892    95,358 

Number of REALTORS®  
 at period end   97,301    98,161    99,819    101,068    101,606    101,916    103,207    103,729    104,203    104,407 
Housing starts   42,934    46,577    35,014    55,287    52,671    46,958    33,553    52,625    55,615    52,157 

greater toronto area

Transactional dollar  
 volume1 $ 10,395  $ 8,981  $ 9,721  $ 12,666  $ 8,021  $ 7,724  $ 8,926  $ 14,068  $ 10,607  $ 9,191 

Average selling price $ 396,693  $ 418,777  $ 428,043  $ 439,802  $ 419,619  $ 439,113  $ 449,286  $ 479,830  $ 458,758  $ 472,494 

Number of units sold   26,205    21,446    22,711    28,799    19,115    17,589    19,867    29,319    23,122    19,452 

Housing starts   6,712    7,694    5,669    7,962    7,845    7,719    8,374    11,245  $ 10,147  $ 9,979 

    Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, 
Twelve months ended 2009 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

Canada        

Transactional dollar  
 volume1 $ 131,929  $ 148,990  $ 164,597  $ 167,011  $ 156,692  $ 151,526  $ 151,865  $ 155,393  $ 162,819  $ 166,055 

Average selling price $ 309,786  $ 320,364  $ 329,404  $ 337,101  $ 338,000  $ 339,049  $ 345,406  $ 354,846  $ 360,572  $ 363,116 

Number of units sold   425,871    465,066    499,681    495,432    463,586    446,915    439,671    437,917    451,557    457,305 

Housing starts   149,571    149,081    160,323    179,812    189,549    189,930    188,469    185,807    188,751    193,950 

Seasonally adjusted  
 housing starts  155,000    178,400    195,600    199,800    190,700    180,000    174,600    194,700    205,000   200,200 

greater toronto area          
Transactional dollar  
 volume1 $ 30,467  $ 35,359  $ 40,441  $ 41,764  $ 39,389  $ 38,132  $ 37,336  $ 38,739  $ 41,325  $ 42,792 

Average selling price $ 384,819  $ 396,154  $ 408,457  $ 421,169  $ 427,814  $ 432,264  $ 437,348  $ 451,027  $ 459,693  $ 466,352 
Number of units sold   79,173    89,255    99,009    99,161    92,071    88,214    85,370    85,890    89,897    91,760 

Housing starts   28,102    25,949    25,714    28,037    29,170    29,195    31,900    35,183    37,485    39,745 

Source: Conference Board of Canada, CMHC.
1 ($ millions).



ManageMent’s Discussion anD analysis  
of Results anD financial conDition

Brookfield real estate services inc.42

supplemental information – cash flow from operations 

    iFRs Canadian gaaP 

             Aug. 7, 
Cash flow from operations and its utilization Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year 2003 
since Fund inception  ended ended ended ended   ended   ended   ended  ended to 
     Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 
($ 000’s)  total 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Royalties  $ 264,480  $ 36,720  $ 36,630  $ 34,359  $ 34,883  $ 32,491  $ 29,659  $ 27,196  $ 23,740  $ 8,802 
Less:           
 Administration    7,830    1,667    1,771    866    817    725    645    595    513    231 
 Interest expense    21,374    3,042    2,900    3,202    3,174    2,419    2,401    2,289    1,327    620 
 Management fee    48,304    6,747    6,713    6,365    6,455    5,869    7,285    3,660    3,660    1,550 

Cash flow from operations   186,972    25,264    25,246    23,926    24,437    23,478    19,328    20,652    18,240    6,401 

Less:                     
 Dividends to  
  shareholders   102,554    10,471    15,212    13,828    13,083    11,980    11,477    10,985    10,985    4,533 
 Distributions to  
  Exchangeable  
  unitholders/non- 
  controlling interest   35,836    4,672    5,337    4,805    4,369    3,992    3,826    3,662    3,662    1,511 

Total dividends   138,390    15,143    20,549    18,633    17,452    15,972    15,303   14,647  14,647   6,044 

Cash flow from operations  
 Less total dividends   48,582    10,121    4,697    5,293    6,985    7,506    4,025   6,005  3,593   357 
 Less Funding of  
  acquisitions   38,476    6,062    7,270    4,827    5,564    6,333    7,886    414    120    – 
 Less Purchase of  
  units under NCIB   4,096    –    –    3,805    291    –    –    –    –    – 

Net change in the period $ 6,010  $ 4,059  $ (2,573) $ (3,339) $ 1,130  $ 1,173  $ (3,861) $ 5,591  $ 3,473  $ 357 

Cumulative change $ 6,010  $ 6,010  $ 1,951  $ 4,524  $ 7,863  $ 6,733  $ 5,560  $ 9,421  $ 3,830  $ 357 
Dividends percentage  
 payout 1  74%  60%  81%  78%  71%  68%  79%  71%  80%  94%
1 This represents the total dividends paid as a percentage of cash flow.

    iFRs Canadian gaaP 

             Aug. 7, 
Cash flow from operations  Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year 2003 
Reconciled to cash flow  ended ended ended ended ended   ended   ended   ended  to 
from operating activities  Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 
($ 000’s)  total 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Cash flow from operating  
 activities $ 161,477  $ 18,588  $ 6,100  $ 25,710  $ 24,174  $ 22,871  $ 20,199  $ 20,607  $ 17,772  $ 5,456 
 Add (deduct):          
 Changes in non-cash  
  working capital items   (3,149)   (2,693)   (1,224)   (1,440)   546    769    (703)   183    468    945 
 Interest on  
  Exchangeable units   10,009    4,672    5,337    –    –    –    –    –    –    – 
 Current non-cash  
  income tax expense   4,183    4,183    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    – 
 Interest on Trust units   15,212    –    15,212    –    –    –    –    –    –    – 
 Non-cash interest  
  expense   (760)   514    (179)   (344)   (283)   (162)   (168)   (138)   –    – 
 Non-cash other income   –    –         

Cash flow from operations $ 186,972  $ 25,264  $ 25,246  $ 23,926  $ 24,437  $ 23,478  $ 19,328  $ 20,652  $ 18,240  $ 6,401 
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supplemental information – acquisitions 

Date acquired by the Fund, January 1, 
($ millions unless stated otherwise) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Purchase price      
 Estimated  2.88  3.48  5.24  3.44  21.14
 Actual (a) (d)  (a)  3.34  5.70  3.31  23.50
     
Payments     
 Initial  2.30  2.78  4.20  2.75  16.91
 Final (b) (c) (d)  (a)  0.56  1.50  0.56  6.59
     
Estimated     
 Annual royalty stream  0.49  0.55  0.89  0.70  2.99
 Number of REALTORS®  217  247  417  316  1,272
 Number of locations  12  8  17  25  60
 Number of agreements  25  23  21  21  60
      
Actual     
 Annual royalty stream (b)  (d)  0.52  0.95  0.66  3.32
 Number of REALTORS®  (d)  231  417  316  1,502
 Number of locations  12  8  17  25  60
 Number of agreements  25  23  21  21  60

(a) To be determined at the end of the year in accordance with the MSA and appropriate purchase agreement.
(b) Audited.
(c) Purchase price obligation as at December 31.
(d) Purchase price obligation and actual values for Via Capitale are calculated over three years.
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The consolidated financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis contained in this annual report are the responsibility 
of the management of the Company. To fulfill this responsibility, the Company maintains a system of internal controls to ensure that its 
reporting practices and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate and provide assurance that relevant and reliable 
financial information is produced. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and, where appropriate, reflect estimates based on 
management’s best judgment in the circumstances. The financial information presented throughout this annual report is consistent with 
the information contained in the consolidated financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent auditors appointed by the shareholders, have audited the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards to enable them to express to the shareholders their opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. Their report as independent auditors is set out on the following page.

The consolidated financial statements have been further examined by the Board of Directors and by its Audit Committee, which meets 
with the auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the Board of Directors. The auditors have direct and 
full access to the Audit Committee and meet with the committee both with and without management present. The Board of Directors, 
directly and through its Audit Committee, oversees management’s responsibilities and is responsible for reviewing and approving the 
consolidated financial statements.

TORONTO, CANADA, March 23, 2012

Philip soper  kevin a. Cash 
President and Chief Executive Senior Vice-President, CFO

ManageMent’s ResPonsiBility  
foR tHe financial stateMents

Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.
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to the shareholders of Brookfield Real estate services inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc. (the “Company”), which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and the consolidated 
statements of earnings (loss) and comprehensive earnings (loss), consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity, and 
consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of  the 
Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Brookfield Real Estate 
Services Inc. as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
years ended December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered accountants 
licensed Public accountants

Toronto, Canada 
March 23, 2012

Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.

inDePenDent auDitoR’s RePoRt
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     December 31,   December 31,   January 1, 
As at    2011 2010 2010 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) Note  (Note 3) (Note 3)

assets

Current assets        
 Cash   $ 5,593  $ 5,672  $ 6,842 
 Accounts receivable  5   4,043    3,158    3,267 
 Prepaid expenses     261    267   – 

        9,897    9,097    10,109 

Non-current assets     
 Deferred tax asset  8   3,398    2,602    3,742 
 Intangible assets  6, 7   98,200    111,313    119,724 

      $ 111,495  $ 123,012 $ 133,575

liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit)

Current liabilities
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 1,299  $ 1,910  $ 2,557 
 Purchase obligation – current portion  6   663    3,282    2,219 
 Current income tax liability  8   4,183    –    – 
 Interest payable to Exchangeable unitholders     389    1,055    522 
 Dividends payable to shareholders     872    3,006    1,489 
 Financial derivative    –    –    101 

        7,406    9,253    6,888 
Non-current liabilities
 Long-term debt  10   52,429    52,277    52,953 
 Purchase obligation  6   169    281    1,924 
 Exchangeable units  11   41,895    49,150    38,734 
 Trust unit liability     –   –    110,392 

        101,899    110,961    210,891 
Shareholders’ equity (deficit)
 Restricted voting shares  12   140,076    140,076    – 
 Deficit    (130,480)  (128,025)  (77,316)

        9,596    12,051  (77,316)

      $ 111,495  $ 123,012  $ 133,575

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Approved on behalf of the board

simon Dean lorraine Bell 
Director Director

consoliDateD Balance sHeets

Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.
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Years ended December 31,   2011 2010 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  Note  (Note 3)

Royalties 
 Fixed franchise fees     $ 18,955  $ 18,715 
 Variable franchise fees       8,218    8,245 
 Premium franchise fees       5,242    5,225 
 Other revenue and services       4,305    4,445 

          36,720    36,630 

expenses
 Administration       1,667    1,771 
 Management fee    4   6,747    6,713 
 Interest expense       3,042    2,900 
 Impairment of intangible assets    7  2,818    – 
 Amortization of intangible assets       13,770    13,656 

          28,044    25,040 

 operating income       8,676    11,590 
 Interest on Exchangeable units      (4,672)  (5,337)
 Interest on Trust units       –   (15,212)
 Gain (loss) on fair value of Exchangeable units    11   7,255   (10,416)
 Gain (loss) on purchase obligation adjustment       144   (611)
 Gain (loss) on fair value of Trust unit liability       –   (29,684)
 Other income       –   101

earnings (loss) before income tax      11,403  (49,569)
 Current income tax expense    8  (4,183)   – 
 Deferred income tax recovery (expense)    8  796   (1,140)
Income tax expense      (3,387)  (1,140)

Net and comprehensive earnings (loss)     $ 8,016  $ (50,709)

Basic earnings per share    13 $ 0.85  
Diluted earnings per share    13 $ 0.42  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

consoliDateD stateMents of cHanges in sHaReHolDeRs’ eQuity 

     Common 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) Note Equity Deficit Total Equity 

Balance, December 31, 2010   $ 140,076  $ (128,025) $ 12,051 
Net earnings     –    8,016    8,016
Dividends declared     –   (10,471)  (10,471)
Balance, December 31, 2011   $ 140,076  $ (130,480) $ 9,596 

     Common 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) Note Equity Deficit Total Equity 

Balance, January 1, 2010   $ –  $ (77,316) $ (77,316)
Conversion to a corporation  3   140,076    –    140,076 
Net loss     –   (50,709)  (50,709)
Balance, December 31, 2010   $ 140,076  $ (128,025) $ 12,051 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.

consoliDateD stateMents of eaRnings (loss)  
anD coMPReHensiVe eaRnings (loss)
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Years ended December 31,  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  Note 2011 2010

Cash provided by (used for):

operating activities

 Earnings (loss) for the period     $ 8,016  $ (50,709)
 Items not affecting cash     
  Fair value (gain) loss on Exchangeable units    11  (7,255)   10,416 
  Fair value (gain) loss on Trust unit liability       –    29,684 
  (Gain) loss on purchase obligation adjustment      (144)   611 
  Interest expense       7,714    23,449 
  Interest paid      (8,228)  (23,270)
  Deferred income tax (recovery) expense    8  (796)   1,140
  Change in value of financial derivative       –   (101)
  Amortization of intangible assets       13,770    13,656 
  Impairment of intangible assets       2,818    – 
 Changes in non-cash working capital       2,693   1,224

          18,588    6,100 

investing activities     
 Purchase of intangible assets    6, 7  (6,062)  (6,415)

Financing activities     
 Proceeds from term facility    10   –    19,972 
 Repayment of term facility    10   –   (15,000)
 Proceeds of private debt placement    10   –   32,173
 Repayment of long-term debt    10   –   (38,000)
 Dividends paid to shareholders      (12,605)   – 

         (12,605)  (855)

Decrease in cash during the year      (79)  (1,170)
Cash, beginning of year       5,672    6,842 

Cash, end of year     $ 5,593  $ 5,672 

additional cash flow information       
  Cash taxes paid (included in operating activities)     $ – $ – 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

consoliDateD stateMents of casH flows

Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.
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1. organization
Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc. (the “Company”), formerly Brookfield Real Estate Services Fund (the “Fund”), is incorporated under 
the Ontario Business Corporations Act. Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.’s registered office is located at 39 Wynford Drive, Toronto, 
Canada, M3C 3K5 and is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). Through its limited partnership holdings, the Company owns 
certain franchise agreements and trademark rights of residential real estate brands in Canada.

On December 31, 2010 (the “Conversion Date”), the Fund completed a transaction (the “Conversion”) by way of a plan of arrangement 
with Trilon Bancorp Inc. (“Trilon”), which resulted in the Fund converting from a publicly traded limited purpose trust to a publicly traded 
corporation and the unitholders of the Fund becoming shareholders of the Company. The Conversion did not result in any changes to the 
underlying business operations of the Fund. 

Effective on the closing of the Conversion, the Company now directly owns the Fund and its subsidiaries, which own and operate the 
businesses of Residential Income Fund L.P. and 9120 Real Estate Network, L.P., which own the assets from which the Company derives 
its sole source of revenue. The management and trustees of the Fund are now the management and directors of the Company.

Pursuant to the Conversion, unitholders of the Fund received one restricted voting share of the Company for each trust unit held on 
the effective date. The Company has 9,483,850 restricted voting shares issued and outstanding. The restricted voting shares of the 
Company are traded on the TSX under the symbol “BRE”. All references to “shares” refer collectively to the Company’s restricted voting 
shares on and subsequent to the Conversion Date and to the Fund’s units prior to the Conversion Date. Similarly, all references to 
“shareholders” refer collectively to holders of the Company’s restricted voting shares on and subsequent to the Conversion Date and to 
holders of the Fund’s trust units prior to the Conversion Date. All references to “dividends” refer collectively to dividends declared by the 
Company on and subsequent to the Conversion Date and to distributions declared by the Fund prior to the Conversion Date.

2. significant accounting Policies
stateMeNt oF CoMPliaNCe
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The Company adopted IFRS in accordance with IFRS 1, First-time 
Adoption of IFRS (“IFRS 1”) in its initial application of IFRS, as disclosed more fully in Note 3 to these financial statements. 

The policies set out below were consistently applied to all the periods presented unless otherwise required under IFRS 1 and as 
described in Note 3.

These consolidated financial statements have been authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 9, 2012.

Basis oF PReseNtatioN
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and include the accounts of the Company, its 
wholly owned subsidiary RL RES Holding Trust (“RLHT”) and its 74% owned subsidiaries, Residential Income Fund General Partner 
Limited (“RIFGP”), Residential Income Fund L.P. (the “Partnership”), 9120 Real Estate Network, L.P. (“VCLP”), a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Partnership, and 4541219 Canada Inc., the “General Partner of VCLP”. RIFGP is the managing general partner of the Partnership. 
Trilon owns the remaining 26% interest in the Partnership and RIFGP. The Company receives certain management, administrative 
and support services from Brookfield Real Estate Services Manager Ltd. (“BRESML”), a party related to Trilon via common control. 
Royal LePage Real Estate Services Limited (“RES”), a wholly owned subsidiary of BRESML, pays royalties to the Company under a 
franchise agreement.

The Conversion has been accounted for as a continuity-of-interests, with no changes in carrying values. The Company’s significant 
accounting policies are as follows:

Cash
Cash consisting of cash on hand, is used to fund dividends to shareholders, the purchase of franchise agreements and other 
operating requirements.

aCCouNts ReCeiVaBle
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
less any allowance for uncollectibility.

Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.
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iNtaNgiBle assets
Intangible assets, consisting of franchise agreements and trademark rights, are accounted for using the cost method. Intangible assets 
are recorded at initial cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent adjustments to the purchase 
price of intangible assets based on future earn-out provisions governed by the terms set out in the Amended and Restated Management 
Services Agreements (“MSA”) dated January 1, 2011, are expensed as incurred.

Franchise agreements are amortized over the term of the agreements plus one renewal period using the straight-line method on an 
agreement-by-agreement basis. Trademarks are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life. 

The Company acquires intangible assets annually and capitalizes the estimated purchase price on the purchase date. The initial 
purchase price for franchise agreements is based on the expected discounted cash flows generated over their respective terms. At 
each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there are any indicators that intangible assets are impaired. If indicators 
of impairment exist, the recoverable amount of the intangible asset or cash-generating unit is estimated. The Company considers a 
franchise agreement to be a cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value less 
costs to sell and its value-in-use. Fair value is determined to be the amount for which the intangible asset can be sold in an arm’s length 
transaction whereas value-in-use is determined by estimating the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
continued use of the intangible asset or cash-generating unit. If the carrying value of the intangible asset or cash-generating unit exceeds 
the recoverable amount, the intangible asset or cash-generating unit is written down to the recoverable amount, and an impairment loss 
is recognized and charged to income in the period. Impairment losses may be reversed when there has been a subsequent increase 
in the recoverable amount as a result of the conditions causing the impairment reversing themselves. In this event, the carrying value 
of the intangible asset or cash-generating unit is increased to its revised recoverable amount limited to the original carrying value less 
amortization as if no impairment had been recognized for prior periods. Impairment reversals are recognized in income in the period 
of reversal.

iNCoMe taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries, based on 
the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred income tax liabilities are provided for using 
the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, except to the extent 
that there was a temporary difference present on the initial recognition of an asset or liability outside of a business combination. Deferred 
income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, 
to the extent that it is probable that deductions, tax credits and tax losses can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred income tax 
assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the income tax asset will be 
recovered. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realized or the liability settled, based on the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. Current and deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity are also recognized directly in equity.

ReVeNue ReCogNitioN
Franchise fees are generally based on a percentage of an agent’s gross revenue (“Variable Franchise Fees”) to a specified maximum plus 
a dollar amount per agent (“Fixed Franchise Fees”). Gross revenue is the gross commission income (net of outside broker payments) paid 
in respect of the closings of residential resale real estate transactions. Variable Franchise Fees are recognized as income at the time a 
residential resale real estate transaction closes or lease is signed by the vendor or lessor, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Fixed 
Franchise Fees are recognized as income as earned, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Premium franchise fees are calculated as a percentage ranging from 1% to 5% of an agent’s gross commission income for a select 
number of franchise locations, which are contractually obligated to pay the premium franchise fee to August 2018. These fees are 
recognized as income at the time a residential resale real estate transaction closes or lease is signed by the vendor or lessor and 
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Other revenue and services, which consist of warranty fees, technology fees and other fees, are generally recognized as income when 
the related services have been provided and collectibility is reasonably assured. 

exChaNgeaBle uNits
Exchangeable units represent the future distribution obligation of the Company in respect of Class B LP units of the Partnership, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Company, which are convertible into restricted voting shares of the Company. These financial instruments 
are classified as a financial liability as a result of their puttable feature as well as by virtue of the Partnership Agreement, whereby the 
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Partnership is required to distribute all of its income to the partners. The Company has designated these financial liabilities as fair value 
through profit or loss. The fair value of these financial liabilities is based on the market price of the Company’s restricted voting shares 
and the number of Exchangeable units outstanding at the reporting date. 

eaRNiNgs PeR shaRe
The earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share are 
calculated to reflect the dilutive effect, if any, of the Exchangeable unitholders exercising their right to exchange Class B LP units of the 
Partnership into restricted voting shares of the Company.

FiNaNCial iNstRuMeNts
All financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), held-to-maturity, 
loans and receivables, available-for-sale or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments, including derivatives, are measured at fair 
value, except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity instruments and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. 
Transaction costs for financial liabilities are applied against these liabilities and amortized using the effective interest method, the resulting 
amortization being recorded as financial expenses. Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities classified as FVTPL are included in 
net income in the period in which they arise. 

The Company made the following classifications:

  Cash  Loans and receivables
  Accounts receivable  Loans and receivables
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Other financial liabilities
  Purchase obligation  FVTPL
  Interest expense payable Other financial liabilities
  Long-term debt  Other financial liabilities
  Exchangeable units FVTPL
  Trust unit liability FVTPL

All financial instruments measured at fair value are categorized into one of three hierarchy levels, described below, for disclosure 
purposes. Each level is based on the transparency of the inputs used to measure the fair values of assets and liabilities:

•	 Level 1 – inputs that are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets.

•	 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

•	 Level 3 – inputs used in a valuation technique that are not based on observable market data in determining fair values of the instruments.

The Company did not have any financial instruments at December 31, 2011 that would result in Other Comprehensive Earnings to 
the Company.

PuRChase oBligatioNs
The Company’s purchase obligations arise from the purchase of franchise agreements, for which the purchase price is based on future 
earn-out provisions governed by the MSA. Such earn-out provisions represent a derivative instrument embedded in a non-financial 
contract which is not closely related to the host contract. Such instruments are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. 
Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recognized in other income (loss). 

CRitiCal aCCouNtiNg estiMates aND assuMPtioNs
The preparation of financial statements requires management to select appropriate accounting policies and to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In particular, critical 
accounting policies and estimates utilized in the normal course of preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements require 
the determination of future cash flows utilized in assessing the impairment of intangible assets, determining the useful life of intangible 
assets, assessing the recoverability of accounts receivable, measurement of deferred taxes and fair values used for disclosure purposes. 
In making estimates, management relies on external information and observable conditions where possible, supplemented by internal 
analysis as required. These estimates have been applied in a manner consistent with that in the prior periods, and there are no known 
trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that we believe will materially affect the methodology or assumptions utilized in these 
consolidated financial statements. The estimates are impacted by, among other things, movements in interest rates, which are highly 
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uncertain. The interrelated nature of these factors prevents us from quantifying the overall impact of these movements on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements in a meaningful way. These sources of estimation uncertainty relate in varying degrees to virtually all 
assets and liability account balances.

CRitiCal JuDgMeNt iN aPPlYiNg aCCouNtiNg PoliCies
The following is the critical judgment that has been made in applying the Company’s accounting policies and that has the most 
significant effect on the amounts in the financial statements:

aCCouNtiNg FoR FRaNChise agReeMeNts
The critical judgment made in accounting for the acquisition of franchise agreements is determining if the acquisition is considered the 
acquisition of assets or a business. In applying the guidance in IFRS 3, Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”), the Company must evaluate 
if the acquisition includes both inputs and processes and, as well, whether the integration of acquired inputs and processes into 
current processes of the Company would meet the definition of a business. The Company evaluated the criteria included in IFRS 3 and 
determined that the acquisition of franchise agreements is an acquisition of assets as no “processes” were acquired in respect of the 
franchise agreements. 

In addition, the Company must also apply judgment with respect to the accounting for the “earn-out” provisions, as set out in the MSA, 
in connection with the purchase of franchise agreements. The Company has determined that a portion of the purchase obligation is an 
embedded derivative instrument in a non-financial host contract whereby the value changes in response to an underlying contract, which 
is the actual earned franchise revenues. The Company has elected to designate the entire purchase obligation as a financial liability at fair 
value through profit or loss.

Also, the Company used judgment to determine that an individual franchise agreement is a cash-generating unit for purposes of its 
impairment analysis as an individual franchise agreement is the smallest identifiable group of assets which generates cash inflows 
independent of cash inflows from other assets.

FutuRe aCCouNtiNg aND RePoRtiNg ChaNges:

iFRs 9 – Financial Instruments (“iFRs 9”)
IFRS 9 is the first phase of the IASB’s three-phase project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It is 
applicable to financial assets and requires classification and measurement in either the amortized cost or the fair value category. IFRS 9 
is applied prospectively, with transitional arrangements depending on the date of application. The Standard is not applicable until annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact 
of adopting IFRS 9. 

iFRs 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (“iFRs 10”)
IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation requirements in SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements. The Standard identifies the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should 
be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company and provides additional guidance to assist in the 
determination of control where this is difficult to assess. The Standard is not applicable until annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013, but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 10. 

iFRs 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“iFRs 12”)
IFRS 12 is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The Standard is not applicable until annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of 
adopting IFRS 12. 

iFRs 13 – Fair Value Measurement (“iFRs 13”)
IFRS 13 provides new guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for IFRS. The Standard is not applicable until 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, but is available for early adoption. The Company is in the process of assessing the 
impact of adopting IFRS 13. 
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3. transition to ifRs
The Company adopted IFRS on January 1, 2011 with a date of transition of January 1, 2010 (the “transition date”). Prior to the adoption 
of IFRS, the Company prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles (“Canadian GAAP” or “CGAAP”). These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies 
described in Note 2 and in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 1. IFRS 1 requires that the same policies be applied for all periods 
presented and that those policies be based on IFRS with an effective date of December 31, 2011 or prior. 

eleCteD exeMPtioNs FRoM Full RetRosPeCtiVe aPPliCatioN
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the Company considered the optional exemptions from 
full retrospective application of IFRS. There were no optional exemptions elected by the Company.

MaNDatoRY exCePtioNs to RetRosPeCtiVe aPPliCatioN
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the Company has applied certain mandatory 
exceptions from full retrospective application of IFRS. The mandatory exception applied from full retrospective application of IFRS is 
described below.

estiMates 
Hindsight was not used to create or revise estimates and accordingly, the estimates previously made by the Company under Canadian 
GAAP are consistent with their application under IFRS.

ReCoNCiliatioN oF eQuitY as RePoRteD uNDeR CaNaDiaN gaaP to iFRs
The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s equity reported in accordance with Canadian GAAP to its equity in accordance with 
IFRS at the transition date:

     Common Contributed  shareholders’ 
     equity surplus Deficit equity

as reported under CgaaP – December 31, 2009   $ 87,947  $ 895  $ (44,798) $ 44,044 
Differences increasing (decreasing) reported amounts:     
 Classification of Trust units  (i)  (87,947)  (895)  –  (88,842)
 Fair value of Trust units   (i)  –  –  (21,550)  (21,550)
 Fair value of Exchangeable units  (i)  –  –  (21,673)  (21,673)
 Impairment of intangible assets  (ii)  –  –  (5,655)  (5,655)
 Amortization of intangible assets  (vi)  –  –  16,930  16,930
 Intangible assets – prior to January 1, 2010  (iii)  –  –  (6,391)  (6,391)
 Deferred taxes  (iv)  –  –  5,821  5,821

as reported under iFRs – January 1, 2010   $ – $ – $ (77,316) $ (77,316)



Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRookfIEld REal EStatE SERvIcES Inc.54

The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s equity reported in accordance with Canadian GAAP to its equity in accordance with 
IFRS at December 31, 2010:

     Common Contributed  shareholders’ 
     equity surplus Deficit equity

as reported under CgaaP – December 31, 2010   $ 87,947 $ 895 $ (53,848) $ 34,994
Differences increasing (decreasing) reported amounts:         
Measurement of Trust units  (i)  52,129  (895)  –  51,234
Fair value of Trust units   (i)  –  –  (51,234)  (51,234)
Distributions to Trust unitholders classified as interest expense (i)  –  –  (15,212)  (15,212)
Reclassification of distributions to Trust unitholders to expense (i)  –  –  15,212  15,212
Fair value of Exchangeable units  (i)  –  –  (32,089)  (32,089)
Earnings attributable to Exchangeable unitholders  (i)  –  –  2,654  2,654
Distributions to Exchangeable unitholders classified  
 as interest expense  (i)  –  –  (5,337)  (5,337)
Impairment of intangible assets  (ii)  –  –  (5,655)  (5,655)
Amortization of intangible assets  (vi)  –  –  19,745  19,745
Intangible assets – prior to January 1, 2010  (iii)  –  –  (6,391)  (6,391)
Intangible assets – 2010 purchase  (iii)  –  –  (611)  (611)
Deferred taxes  (iv)  –  –  4,741  4,741

as reported under iFRs – December 31, 2010   $ 140,076 $ – $ (128,025) $ 12,051

The consolidated balance sheets as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010 and the reconciliation of equity as reported under 
Canadian GAAP and IFRS have been adjusted from those presented in the 2011 interim condensed consolidated financial statements for 
the correction of certain immaterial amounts in the IFRS transition. The impact of these adjustments on the transition balance sheet was 
a reduction to deficit of $489 and a reduction to the December 31, 2010 deficit for an additional $415 with a corresponding increase to 
deferred tax asset, respectively.

(i)  Classification and measurement of trust units and exchangeable units prior to conversion
For periods presented prior to the Conversion, Trust units of the Fund and the Class B LP units of the Partnership (“Exchangeable 
units”) should be presented as a liability under IFRS in accordance with guidance in IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. The 
classification is primarily as a result of the mandatory distribution features in the Fund’s Declaration of Trust and the “puttable” nature 
of the Trust units for which the Exchangeable units are exchangeable. Both the Trust and the Exchangeable units are recorded at fair 
value, whereby any changes in the fair value are recognized in earnings during the period. Distributions made to both Trust unitholders 
and holders of Exchangeable units are recorded as interest expense. Under Canadian GAAP, Trust units were classified as an equity 
instrument measured at cost, and the Exchangeable units were presented as non-controlling interest and measured at the pro-rata share 
of net assets not owned by the Company of such consolidated subsidiaries.

(ii) impairment of intangible assets
Under IFRS, the Company must calculate potential impairment by estimating the present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the continued use of the intangible asset, whereas Canadian GAAP calculated potential impairment using similar cash flows 
but on an undiscounted basis. This change in accounting policy resulted in the recognition of an impairment of $3,398 upon transition. 
In addition, the Company has recognized an impairment loss of $2,257, which is the correction of the Canadian GAAP balance upon 
transition.

Impairment charges recognized upon transition resulted in a reduction to amortization expense.

(iii) intangible assets
Adjustments have been made to the carrying value of intangible assets to reflect that under IFRS, following the date of acquisition, 
changes to the purchase obligation are recognized as a gain or loss in earnings versus as adjustments to the carrying value of the 
intangible assets. This is consistent with accounting for the purchase obligation as an embedded derivative in a non-financial host 
contract, whereby the entire purchase contract is classified as fair value through profit or loss.



2011 annual report 55

(iv) Deferred taxes
This adjustment reflects the application of guidance in IAS 12, Income Taxes, whereby deferred tax assets or liabilities for taxable 
temporary differences that arise from transactions which are not business combinations are not recognized, as well as the deferred tax 
impacts as a result of other IFRS transition adjustments.

(v) Classification of restricted voting shares post-Conversion
Upon Conversion to a Corporation, restricted voting shares were issued in exchange for the Trust units outstanding. These restricted 
voting shares do not contain a mandatory dividend feature, and as such are classified as common equity, in accordance with guidance 
in IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. The assigned value of the outstanding restricted voting shares is equivalent to the last 
publicly traded price of the Trust units on December 31, 2010. Dividends declared to common shareholders are recorded as a reduction 
to shareholders’ equity.

(vi) amortization of intangible assets
This adjustment reflects the impact on amortization expense as a result of changes to the carrying value of intangible assets resulting 
from adjustments disclosed herein as well as a change in the amortization period of intangible assets to reflect an estimated useful life 
which includes the agreement term plus one renewal period.

ReCoNCiliatioN oF Net eaRNiNgs (loss) aND CoMPReheNsiVe eaRNiNgs (loss)  
as RePoRteD uNDeR CaNaDiaN gaaP to iFRs
The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s net and comprehensive earnings reported in accordance with Canadian GAAP to its 
net and comprehensive loss in accordance with IFRS for the three months and year ended December 31, 2010:

       Year ended 
       December 31, 
      Note 2010

Net and comprehensive earnings as reported under Canadian GAAP      $ 6,162 
Earnings attributable to Exchangeable unitholders      (i)   2,654 
Interest on Exchangeable units      (ii)  (5,337)
Revaluation of Exchangeable units to fair value      (iii)  (10,416)
Amortization of intangible assets      (iv)  2,815 
Intangible assets      (v)  (611)
Deferred income taxes      (vi)  (1,080)
Interest on Trust units      (vii)  (15,212)
Revaluation of Trust units to fair value      (viii)  (29,684)

Net and comprehensive loss as reported under iFRs       $ (50,709)

(i)  earnings attributable to exchangeable unitholders
Non-controlling interest in income of subsidiaries is included in the determination of net income reported by an entity under Canadian 
GAAP. Under IFRS, net income attributable to the Exchangeable unitholders is added back in determining net income as reported 
under IFRS.

(ii) interest on exchangeable units
Interest on Exchangeable units represents distributions to Exchangeable unitholders, which are not included in the determination of 
net income under Canadian GAAP. Under IFRS, distributions to Exchangeable unitholders is accounted for as interest expense as the 
ownership of non-controlling interests in the net assets of the underlying consolidated subsidiaries contains a mandatory distribution 
feature, and as such is accounted for as a debt instrument.

(iii) Revaluation of exchangeable units to fair value
Under Canadian GAAP, Exchangeable units were measured at the pro-rata share of net assets not owned by the Company of such 
consolidated subsidiaries. Under IFRS, the ownership of Exchangeable units contains a mandatory distribution feature and is accounted 
for as a debt instrument which is carried at fair value. Each Exchangeable unit has a fair value equal to the traded value of the Company’s 
restricted voting shares. Changes in the fair value of the Company’s Exchangeable units are accounted for as other gains or losses.
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(iv) amortization of intangible assets
This adjustment reflects the impact on amortization expense as a result of changes to the carrying value of intangible assets as a result of 
other adjustments disclosed herein as well as a change in the amortization period of intangible assets to reflect an estimated useful life, 
which includes the agreement term plus one renewal period.

(v) intangible assets
Subsequent adjustments to the purchase price of intangible assets as a result of the earn-out provisions as governed by terms of the 
MSA are expensed or recovered as applicable in accordance with IFRS guidance. Under Canadian GAAP, these adjustments were 
added to the carrying value of the intangible assets.

(vi) Deferred income taxes
The change related to deferred taxes reflects the change in temporary differences resulting from the effect of the IFRS adjustments 
described herein.

(vii) interest on trust units
Interest on Trust units represents distributions to Trust unitholders, which are not included in the determination of net income under 
Canadian GAAP. Under IFRS, distributions to Trust unitholders, prior to the Conversion, are accounted for as interest expense as a result 
of the liability classification of the Trust units as disclosed above. 

(viii) Revaluation of trust units to fair value
Under Canadian GAAP, Trust units were presented as part of unitholders’ equity. Under IFRS, Trust units, prior to the Conversion, are 
presented as Trust unit liability and measured at fair value as disclosed above. Changes in the fair value of the Trust unit liability are 
accounted for as other gains or losses.

ChaNges to the Cash Flow stateMeNt
There were no material adjustments to the cash flow statement as a result of the Conversion to IFRS.

FiNaNCial assets aND FiNaNCial liaBilities
Upon the Conversion to IFRS, all previously recognized financial assets and financial liabilities have been designated consistent with the 
designation under Canadian GAAP with the exception of the purchase obligation, which has been designated as FVTPL under IFRS 
compared with other financial liabilities and measured at amortized cost under Canadian GAAP. There was no change in value as a result 
of this change in designation at the transition date.

4. Management services agreement
On January 1, 2011, the Company entered into the MSA with BRESML, a party related to the Exchangeable unitholders via common 
control. This agreement replaced the MSA dated January 1, 2008 and August 7, 2003 with an initial term of 10 years and automatic 
renewal for successive 10-year periods subject to approval of the Company and BRESML. The termination date and renewal periods 
of the MSA remain consistent with the original agreement. Under the MSA, BRESML is to provide certain management, administrative 
and support services to the Company and its subsidiaries and in return is paid a monthly fee equal to 20% and 30% of the distributable 
cash of the Partnership and VCLP, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company paid $6,747 (December 31, 2010 
– $6,713) for these services. The MSA also prescribes the conditions under which the Company purchases contracts from BRESML and 
the formula for calculating the purchase price.

5. accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are related to fees due from the Company’s franchise network and are valued initially at fair value, then subsequently 
measured at amortized cost less any provision for doubtful accounts. As at December 31, 2011, the Company had accounts receivable 
of $4,043 (December 31, 2010 – $3,158, January 1, 2010 – $3,267) net of $579 (December 31, 2010 – $48, January 1, 2010 – $nil) 
allowance for doubtful accounts. During the year ended December 31, 2011, $531 of net bad debt expense was included in 
Administration expense (December 31, 2010 – $48).

The table below summarizes the aging of accounts receivables. Management considers amounts owed for greater than 90 days as overdue.

    90+ Days 60 Days 30 Days Current Total

Accounts receivable $  596  $  185  $  411  $  2,851  $  4,043
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6. asset acquisitions 
The Fund’s purchase of franchise agreements is governed by terms set out in the MSA.

On January 1, 2011, the Partnership acquired 21 new Royal LePage franchise agreements from BRESML at an estimated purchase price 
of $2,524. A payment of $2,019, equal to 80% of the estimated purchase price, was due on January 1, 2011 and the remainder is to be 
paid a year later, when the final purchase price is determined. Any subsequent changes to the value of the estimated purchase price are 
recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive earnings and are classified as other income or loss in the 
period the change occurs. The unpaid balance due as of January 1, 2012 is subject to interest at the rate prescribed in the MSA. 

On January 1, 2011, VCLP acquired two new Via Capitale (formerly known as La Capitale) franchise agreements from BRESML at an 
estimated purchase price of $951. A payment of $761, equal to 80% of the estimated purchase price, was due on January 1, 2011 
and the remainder is to be paid over the next three years. Until the final purchase price is determined, the purchase price obligation is 
recalculated at each period end based on the actual royalties received. Any subsequent changes to the value of the estimated purchase 
obligation are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive earnings and are classified as other income 
or loss in the period the change occurs. The unpaid balance due as of January 1, 2012 is subject to interest at the rate prescribed in 
the MSA. 

For the year ended December 31, 2011, $144 was recorded as a reduction to the purchase obligation and the corresponding amount 
was recorded as a gain on the fair value of the purchase obligation (2010 – loss of $611).

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred $117 of interest expense related to outstanding purchase obligation 
payments (2010 – $nil).

On January 1, 2010, the Partnership acquired 18 new Royal LePage franchise agreements from BRESML at an estimated purchase price 
of $4,205. A payment of $3,364, equal to 80% of the estimated purchase price, was paid from cash on hand on January 4, 2010.

On January 1, 2010, VCLP acquired three Via Capitale franchise agreements from BRESML for an estimated purchase price of $1,040. A 
payment of $832, equal to 80% of the estimated purchase price, was paid from cash on hand on January 4, 2010.

The additions to intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are summarized as follows:

      Year ended Year ended 
      December 31, December 31, 
    Royal lePage VClP 2011 2010

Franchise agreements $ 2,524  $ 951  $ 3,475  $ 5,245

The purchase obligations consist of the following:

      December 31, December 31, 
    Royal lePage VClP 2011 2010

Purchase obligation at beginning of year $ 1,238  $ 2,325  $ 3,563  $ 4,143 
 Current year purchase   2,524    951    3,475    5,245 
 Price adjustment on current year purchases  (58)  (86)  (144)   429 
 Price adjustment on prior years’ purchases   –    –    –    161
 80% purchase price payment on current year purchases  (2,019)  (761)  (2,780)  (4,196)
 Payment of obligations on prior years’ purchases  (1,238)  (2,044)  (3,282)  (2,219)

 Purchase obligation at end of period $ 447  $ 385  $ 832  $ 3,563

Current portion of purchase obligation $ 447  $ 216  $ 663  $ 3,282 
Long-term portion of purchase obligation   –    169    169    281 
Purchase obligation at end of period $ 447  $ 385  $ 832  $ 3,563
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7. intangible assets 
A summary of intangible assets is provided in the chart below.

     Franchise   
      agreements  trademarks  total

Cost

At January 1, 2010   $ 188,531  $ 5,859   $ 194,390 
  Purchases     5,245     –     5,245 

At December 31, 2010     193,776     5,859     199,635 
  Purchases     3,475     –     3,475 
  Impairment     (1,989)    –     (1,989)
  Amounts written-off     (1,923)    (432)    (2,355)

at December 31, 2011   $ 193,339  $ 5,427  $ 198,766 

accumulated amortization  

At January 1, 2010   $ 73,303  $ 1,363  $ 74,666 
  Amortization expense     13,384     272     13,656 

At December 31, 2010     86,687     1,635     88,322 
  Amortization expense     13,540     230     13,770 
  Amounts written-off     (1,213)    (313)    (1,526)

at December 31, 2011   $ 99,014  $ 1,552  $ 100,566 

Carrying value 

At January 1, 2010   $ 115,228  $ 4,496  $ 119,724 

At December 31, 2010   $ 107,089  $ 4,224  $ 111,313 

at December 31, 2011   $ 94,325  $ 3,875  $ 98,200 

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $2,699 for the expiry and non-renewal of 
franchise agreements in the Royal LePage and Via Capitale networks, and $119 for the rights to the La Capitale trademark.

Management determined the recoverable amount using a value-in-use amount. The discount rate used was the pre-tax weighted 
average cost of capital (“WACC”) of the Company. In calculating the discounted future cash flow for each franchisee, management 
performed a net present value of annuity calculation using actual cash flow received in 2011, the Company’s weighted average cost of 
capital and the life of the agreements plus one renewal term as the assumptions. 

Trademarks arise when a new brand is acquired. Trademarks are evaluated for impairment periodically by brand. In 2011, the La Capitale 
brand was converted to the Via Capitale brand, and as such the remaining carrying value of the La Capitale brand was written off.

8. income taxes
The Company uses the liability method of tax allocation in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of balance sheet items and their corresponding tax basis result in either deferred income tax assets 
or liabilities, except to the extent that a temporary difference was present on the initial recognition of the asset outside of a business 
combination. Deferred income taxes are computed using substantively enacted tax rates applicable to the years in which the temporary 
differences are expected to reverse.
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A reconciliation of income taxes at Canadian statutory rates with reported income taxes is as follows:

Years ended December 31,   2011 2010

Earnings (loss) before income taxes for the year:     $ 11,403  $ (49,569)
Expected income tax expense (recovery) at statutory rate of 28.25% (2010 – 31%)     3,221    (15,366)
Increase (decrease) in income tax expense (recovery) due to the following:  
 Non-deductible amortization       2,209    1,982 
 Non-deductible (gain) loss on fair value of Trust and Exchangeable units      (2,050)  12,431
 Non-deductible interest on Trust and Exchangeable units       1,320   6,370
 Income allocated to Exchangeable unitholders       (1,395)   (6,120)
 Rate changes from SIFT (46%) to corporate structure (25%)      –   1,708
 Other      82   135

Total       $ 3,387  $ 1,140

The major components of income tax expense (benefit) include the following:  

Years ended December 31,   2011 2010

Current tax expense     $ 4,183  $ – 
Deferred tax (recovery) expense       (796)   1,140

        $ 3,387  $ 1,140

9. operating credit facility
The Partnership has a credit facility (the “Revolver”) of up to $2,000 from a Canadian financial institution. This Revolver may be used to 
provide working capital to the Partnership from time to time. The Revolver is subject to annual renewal, with outstanding principal under 
the Revolver subject to interest at the lender’s prime rate plus 2.5% to 3% or the Banker’s Acceptance rate plus 3.5% to 4%, based 
on the ratio of total debt to Consolidated Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“Consolidated EBITDA”) of 
the Partnership, as defined in the amended credit agreement. Consolidated EBITDA is defined as earnings (loss) before tax, interest, 
impairment of intangible assets, amortization of intangible assets, interest on Exchangeable units, interest on Trust units, gain (loss) on 
fair value of Exchangeable units, gain (loss) on purchase obligation adjustment, and gain (loss) on fair value of Trust unit liability. As at 
December 31, 2011, the Revolver had not been drawn upon.

10. long-term Debt
The Company’s long-term debt consists of the following debt facilities: 

      December 31,   December 31,   January 1, 
As at     2011   2010   2010 

Private debt placement   $  32,348  $  32,254  $  37,975 
Term facility     20,081    20,023    14,978 

      $  52,429  $  52,277  $  52,953

On February 18, 2010, the Partnership completed the refinancing of its $53,000 debt obligations with a five-year term maturing on 
February 17, 2015. The refinancing included a $32,700 private debt placement with a number of Canadian institutional investors, with 
fixed interest of 5.809%, and a $20,300 term facility provided by a Canadian financial institution with interest available in the form of a 
floating rate at prime plus 1.5%, payable quarterly, or at Banker’s Acceptance rates plus 3% with terms of up to six months.
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The Company incurred $855 in issue costs associated with the new debt obligations, resulting in net proceeds of $52,145. These 
proceeds and cash on hand were utilized to repay the previous private placement of $38,000 and term facility of $15,000, which matured 
on February 17, 2010.

The private placement and term facility had fair values of $34,971 and $20,300, respectively at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 – 
$34,003 and $20,300).

During the year ended December 31, 2011, $152 of amortization of the issue costs was recorded as interest expense (December 31, 
2010 – $179).

11. exchangeable units
Trilon owns 25 common shares in RIFGP and 3,327,667 Exchangeable units of the Partnership; this reflects an effective 26% interest 
in the Partnership. Prior to the Conversion, an equivalent number of special Fund units, which represent voting rights in the Fund, also 
accompanied the Exchangeable units. Pursuant to the Conversion, the special Fund units were redeemed, and one special voting share 
was issued by the Company. The special voting share entitles the holder to a number of votes at any meeting of the restricted voting 
shareholders equal to the number of restricted voting shares that may be obtained upon the exchange of all the Exchangeable units held 
by the holder and/or its affiliates. The Company indirectly holds the remaining 74% interest in the Partnership through Class A limited 
partnership units of the Partnership (“Ordinary LP units”). The Exchangeable unitholders are entitled to indirectly exchange, on a one-for-
one basis, subject to adjustment, the Exchangeable units for restricted voting shares of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded a gain of $7,255, related to the fair value of the Exchangeable units 
(year ended December 31, 2010 – loss of $10,416).

12. share capital
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of restricted voting shares, an unlimited number of preferred shares and one 
special voting share. As at December 31, 2010, 9,483,850 restricted voting shares were issued in exchange for 9,483,850 Trust units 
outstanding, and one special voting share was issued in exchange for all special Fund units outstanding prior to the Conversion. 

The restricted voting shares were issued to replace the Trust units outstanding prior to the Conversion. Each restricted voting share 
represents a proportionate voting right in the Company, and holders of the Company’s restricted voting shares are entitled to dividends 
declared and distributed by the Company.

The special voting share was issued to replace all of the special Fund units outstanding prior to the Conversion, and represents the 
proportionate voting rights of the Exchangeable unitholders of the Company. The special voting share is redeemable by the holder at 
$0.01 per share, and the holder is not entitled to dividends declared by the Company. 

No additional restricted voting shares were issued during the year ended December 31, 2011.

No preferred shares were issued or outstanding as at December 31, 2011.
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13. earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share have been determined as follows:

Year ended December 31, 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)     2011 

Net income available to restricted voting shareholders – basic      $ 8,016

 Interest on Exchangeable units         4,672 

 (Gain) loss on fair value of Exchangeable units         (7,255)

Net income available to restricted voting shareholders – diluted      $ 5,433

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing basic earnings per share      9,483,850 
Total outstanding Exchangeable units         3,327,667 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing diluted earnings per share      12,811,517 

Basic earnings per share       $ 0.85 

Diluted earnings per share       $ 0.42 

Basic and diluted earnings per share have not been presented for the comparative period as the Company was considered to not have any 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year until the Conversion, which occurred just prior to the close of business on December 31, 2010.

14. Related Party transactions
Unless disclosed elsewhere, the Company had the following transactions with parties related to the Exchangeable unitholders for the 
years ended 2011 and 2010. These transactions have been recorded at the exchange amount agreed to between the parties.

Years ended December 31,   2011 2010

a) Royalties
  Fixed, variable and other franchise fees     $ 2,543  $ 2,587 
  Premium franchise fees     $ 4,477  $ 4,461 
   
b) Expenses  
  Management fees     $ 6,747  $ 6,713 
  Insurance and other     $ 109  $ 109 
  Interest on purchase obligations     $ 117  $ – 
   
c) Interest paid  
  Interest paid to Exchangeable unitholders     $ 5,338  $ 4,805 
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The following amounts due to/from related parties are included in the account balance as described:

      December 31,   December 31,  January 1, 
As at    2011 2010 2010

d) Accounts receivable   
  Franchise fees receivable and other   $ 1,142  $ 908  $ 585 
    
e) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   
  Management fees   $ 491  $ 489  $ 1,656 
  Interest on purchase obligations   $ 26  $ –  $ –
  Administrative shared service liability   $ 120  $ –  $ – 
    
f) Interest expense payable to Exchangeable unitholders   $ 389  $ 1,055  $ 521 
    
g) Purchase obligation payable   $ 832  $ 3,563  $ 4,143 

15. financial instruments
In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to a number of financial risks that can affect its operating performance. These 
risks are outlined below:

a) CReDit Risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that the franchisees may experience financial difficulty and be unable to pay outstanding franchise 
fees. The Company’s credit risk is limited to the recorded amount of accounts receivable. Management reviews the financial position 
of all franchisees during the application process and closely monitors outstanding accounts receivable on an ongoing basis. As at 
December 31, 2011, the Company has an allowance for doubtful accounts of $579 (2010 – $48). The increase in allowance for the 
doubtful accounts reflects deterioration in financial position for certain franchisees identified by the Company’s review of its accounts 
receivable balance.

B) liQuiDitY Risk
The Company is exposed to liquidity risk in its ability to finance its working capital requirements and meet its cash flow needs, including 
paying ongoing future dividends to shareholders and interest to Exchangeable unitholders. Management reduces liquidity risk by 
maintaining more conservative debt covenant ratios compared with those required by the covenants associated with the long-term debt. 
Also, the Company has a $2,000 unutilized credit under the Revolver, as described in Note 9. 

Estimated contractual maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities are as follows:

      Beyond  
    2012 2013 2014 total

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,299  $ –  $ –  $ 1,299 
Purchase obligations   663    131    38    832 
Current income tax liability   4,183    –    –    4,183 
Interest payable to Exchangeable unitholders   389    –    –    389 
Dividends payable to shareholders   872    –    –    872
Interest expense on long-term debt  3,042   3,042  3,803  9,887
Private debt placement   –    –    32,700    32,700 
Term facility   –    –    20,300    20,300 
Exchangeable units   –    –    41,895    41,895 

Total   $ 10,448 $ 3,173  $ 98,736 $ 112,357
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C) iNteRest Rate Risk
The Company is exposed to the risk of interest rate fluctuations on its Revolver and term facilities as the interest rates on these facilities 
are tied to the prime and Banker’s Acceptance rates. Management has elected to continue with a floating rate position on these facilities 
and monitors this position on an ongoing basis. The Company’s $32,700 private debt placement is fixed and accordingly does not have 
cash flow risk of interest rate fluctuations or short-term refinancing risk. An increase of 1% in the Company’s effective interest rate on its 
variable rate debt would result in an interest expense increase of approximately $203 (2010 – $203). 

D) FaiR Value
The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, which consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, purchase obligation, interest payable to Exchangeable unitholders and dividends payable to shareholders are estimated by 
management to approximate their carrying values due to their short-term nature. Similarly, the Company’s floating rate debt has a fair 
value that approximates its face value. The Company determines the fair value of the fixed rate debt through the use of a discounted 
cash flow analysis using relevant risk-free bond rates plus an applicable risk premium. The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is 
disclosed in Note 10.

e) FaiR Value hieRaRChY
The following table summarizes the financial instruments measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 
2011 and 2010, classified using the fair value hierarchy described in Note 2:

       as at December 31, 2011
    level 1  level 2 level 3 total

Financial asset or liability    
 Purchase obligations $ –  $ –  $ 832  $ 832 
 Exchangeable units   41,895    –    –    41,895 

total  $ 41,895  $ –  $ 832  $ 42,727 

       As at December 31, 2010
    Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial asset or liability    
 Purchase obligations $ –  $ –  $ 3,563  $ 3,563 
 Exchangeable units   49,150    –    –    49,150 

Total   $ 49,150  $ –  $ 3,563  $ 52,713

See Note 6 for a reconciliation of the Level 3 fair values. There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels during the year.

16. Management of capital 
The Company’s capital is made up of its cash on hand, long-term debt, Exchangeable units and shareholders’ equity. 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain a capital structure that provides financing options to the Company 
while remaining compliant with the covenants associated with the long-term debt; maintain financial flexibility to preserve its ability 
to meet financial obligations, including debt servicing and dividends to shareholders; and deploy capital to provide an appropriate 
investment return to its shareholders.

The Company’s financial strategy is designed to maintain a flexible capital structure consistent with the objectives stated above and to 
respond to changes in economic conditions. 

The covenants of the long-term debt prescribe that the Company must maintain a ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Senior Interest 
Expense at a minimum of 5.00 to 1 and a ratio of Senior Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA at a maximum of 2.25 to 1. 

Senior Indebtedness is defined as the Company’s long-term debt disclosed under Note 10, which is made up of $32,700 in private 
debt placement and $20,300 in a term facility. Senior Interest Expense includes interest expenses generated on the Company’s 
Senior Indebtedness. 

As at December 31, 2011, the Company is compliant with all financial covenants. There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year. 
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17. segmented information
The Company has only one business segment which is the ownership and generation of residential brokerage franchise agreements.

18. subsequent events
RoYal lePage FRaNChise agReeMeNts
On January 1, 2012, the Partnership acquired 20 new Royal LePage franchise agreements from BRESML. The estimated purchase price 
of $1,863 is based on an estimated annual royalty stream of $298. A deposit of $1,491, equal to 80% of the estimated purchase price, is 
to be paid from cash on hand, and the remainder is to be paid a year later, when the final purchase price is determined, in accordance 
with the terms set out in the MSA.

Via CaPitale FRaNChise agReeMeNts
On January 1, 2012, the Partnership acquired five new Via Capitale franchise agreements from BRESML and VCLP. The estimated 
purchase price of $1,018 is based on an estimated annual royalty stream of $191. A deposit of $814, equal to 80% of the estimated 
purchase price, is to be paid from cash on hand. The estimated price is to be revised over a three-year period from November 1, 2011 to 
October 31, 2014, based on the average annual royalty stream earned. 
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audit committee

The Company is governed by a Board of five Trustees, four  
of whom are independent of the Company or its Manager.

The Board oversees the business and affairs of the Company.  
The independent Directors also monitor the performance of the 
Manager, Brookfield Real Estate Services Limited, a subsidiary  
of Brookfield Asset Management Inc., on behalf of the Company 
and ensure compliance with the terms of the Management  
Services Agreement.

The Directors have adopted formal terms of reference regarding 
their responsibilities and all matters of governance. They have 
agreed to formal distribution and disclosure policies, which are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. The Company has two committees: 
the Audit Committee and Governance Committee. 

george Myhal, Ca, i.e.
Director and Chairman
Senior Managing Partner and Chief Operating Officer,  
Brookfield Asset Management Inc.

lorraine Bell, Ca ¹, ²

Director and Chair of the audit Committee
Self-employed Consultant 
Over 25 years experience in the financial sector

simon Dean ¹, ²

Director
Self-employed Consultant 
Previously CEO of the Manager and its predecessor (ret. 2005)

allen karp, llB ¹, ²

Director and Chair of the governance Committee
Previously Partner, Goodman and Carr LLP, 
Chairman and CEO, Cineplex Odeon Corporation

gail kilgour, iCD.D ¹, ²

Director
Chair, Audit Committee, Ontario Realty Corporation 
Over 30 years experience in the financial services industry

¹ Member of the Audit Committee 
² Member of the Governance Committee

The Audit Committee is comprised of four independent, financially 
literate Directors. They meet on a quarterly basis and oversee  
financial accounting and reporting, internal control, risk management  
and insurance, external/internal audit and publicly disclosed  
financial information.

The Audit Committee reviews and reports to the Board of Directors 
on interim financial statements, audited annual financial statements, 
public disclosure documents containing audited or unaudited  
financial information, and the effectiveness of management policies 
and practices concerning financial reporting and control.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for retaining the external  
auditor. It receives an annual report from the auditor on the  
independence of the auditors. The committee also reviews any 
relationship between the auditor, the Company and the Company  
Manager – or any other relationships that may adversely affect  
the auditor’s independence.

The Governance Committee is responsible for ensuring that the 
Company adheres to principles of good governance. Made up  
of four independent Directors, the Committee provides direction  
on the size and composition of the Board, Director nominations, 
Trustee orientation and effectiveness, and Director compensation,  
in accordance with the governance policy adopted by the board.  
On an annual basis, the Governance Committee evaluates the  
effectiveness of the Board and its committees.

governance committee

BoaRD of DiRectoRs
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100th year anniversary 
Our Company will celebrate its 100th year Anniversary in 2013

A home should be a place of safety, security and comfort. Sadly, for thousands of Canadian women and  
children, this is not the case. The Royal LePage Shelter Foundation helps local shelters provide safe haven  
and new beginnings for more than 30,000 women and children every year.

aBout the FouNDatioN:
•	  Royal LePage is the only major Canadian real estate  

company with its own charity;

•	  The foundation is the largest public foundation in Canada  
dedicated exclusively to supporting women’s and children’s 
shelters and violence prevention and education;

•	  Many Royal LePage offices across Canada partner with a  
local shelter providing much-needed financial support and  
essential goods and services. Funds raised by the local  
Royal LePage offices remain in their local community;

 
•	  Royal LePage (The Manager) pays all the administrative  

costs of the charity so that 100% of funds raised go  
directly towards the cause;

•	  The Royal LePage Shelter Foundation is also a major financial 
contributor to the Fourth R, a curriculum-based education  
program teaching grade 8 and 9 students about healthy  
relationships and dating violence.

the CoMPaNY
Philip soper
President and Chief Executive

kevin Cash
Chief Financial Officer

Max Cohen
Secretary & General Counsel

the CoMPaNY MaNageR
Philip soper
President and Chief Executive

kevin Cash
Chief Financial Officer

Nicolas ayotte
President, Via Capitale 

Carolyn Cheng
Senior Vice President, Strategic Business Services

spencer enright
Chief Operating Officer

alnoor Jiwani
Chief Information Officer

Yvonne Ratigan
Vice President, Network Service

gino Romanese 
Senior Vice President, Brokerage

sandra webb
Senior Vice President, Marketing & Communications

Helping our community

ManageMent teaM



SHAREHOLDER INFORmATION

HEad OffiCE
Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc. 
39 Wynford Drive 
Don Mills, ON 
M3C 3K5

Telephone: (416) 510 5800 
Facsimile: (416) 510 5856 
info@brookfieldresinc.com 
www.brookfieldresinc.com 

TraNSfEr agENT aNd rEgiSTrar
CIBC Mellon Trust Company 
P.O. Box 7010 
Adelaide Street Postal Station 
Toronto, ON  
M5C 2W9

Telephone: 1-800-387-0825 or (416) 653-5500 
Facsimile: (416) 643-5501 
inquiries@cibcmellon.com 
www.cibcmellon.com/Investor 

audiTOrS
Deloitte & Touche LLP

COrpOraTE COuNSEl
Goodmans LLP

TSX SymbOl: brE
Shares are eligible investments for DPSPs,  
RRSPs, RRIFs and RESPs

aNNual gENEral mEETiNg
The Annual General Meeting will be held on Tuesday,  
May 1, 2012 at 10:00 a.m. at the Hockey Hall of Fame,  
located at Brookfield Place, 30 Yonge Street, Toronto 

plEaSE dirECT iNquiriES TO:
Tammy Gilmer  
Director, Global Communications & Public Relations 
tgilmer@brookfieldres.com 

We regularly provide shareholders with information about the Company through our annual report, quarterly reports, and news 
releases. Information is available online at www.brookfieldresinc.com. On the site you will find summary information about the  
Company including annual and quarterly reports, press releases, webcasts, slide presentations, and dividend information.



INDUSTRY 
SCOPE 
PLATFORM

www.brookfieldresinc.com

Brookfield Real Estate Services Inc.

EVOLVING


